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Key figures
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2013 Pro forma
2012 *1

2012

2011

2010

2009

Turnover (in € x 1 billion)

2.62

2.56

6.62

5.22

4.16

1.95

Sales (in million tonnes)
Compound feed
Roughages and high-moisture feed
Single feed

6.39
1.78
0.38

6.25
1.71
0.67

4.89
1.27
0.46

2.48
0.51
0.06

2.38
0.40
0.07

2.22
0.39
0.09

Total animal feed

8.55

8.63

6.62

3.05

2.85

2.70

-

-

18.23

19.56

18.87

7.28

Result (in € x 1 million)
Result after tax
Result after tax available for dividend

31.12
28.82

39.19

52.70
40.47

21.93
21.40

40.48
32.01

50.45
34.10

Dividend payment

14.41

12.14

6.42

9.60

10.23

Balance sheet (in € x 1 million)
Group equity
Balance sheet total
Solvency ratio *2
Return on normalised equity *3

342.7
774.5
44.2%
10.9%

327.1
816.7
40.1%
20.6%

321.5
706.1
45.5%
11.1%

312.5
651.4
48.0%
20.6%

275.2
517.5
53.2%
19.5%

Key figures per share
Number of shares issued (x 1 million)
Profit per share (in €)
Equity per share (in €)

105.79
0.29
3.20

105.26
0.50
3.07

105.48
0.21
2.62

106.19
0.38
2.51

106.26
0.47
2.22

0.136

0.115

0.061

0.090

0.096

3.08
10.5

2.15
4.2

2.09
10.1

2.58
6.8

-

2,214

2,194

884

847

832

Agricultural raw materials

Dividend per share (in €)
Closing price (in €)
Price-earnings ratio (at closing rate)
Number of employees *4
*1

The 2012 pro forma figures include the ForFarmers results for the full year, as if the 2012 transactions (acquisition of Hendrix and
BOCM PAULS and sale of Cefetra and Probroed) had happened on 1 January 2012. This means that the results of the Hendrix
and BOCM PAULS acquisitions are included over the whole of 2012 and that the results of the entities sold during the year (Cefetra
and Probroed) have been eliminated over the whole of 2012. For a more detailed explanation of these transactions, see the explanatory
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The 2012 pro forma figures have not been audited.
*2
Group equity as percentage of balance sheet total.
*3
Basic principle in normalisation of equity is a solvency ratio of 35%. Book profits on divestments and disposal of assets are not included.
*4
Converted to fulltime-equivalent (FTE) as per year end.
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Company profile
Vision
Sustainable food.

Mission
As a trend-setting and reliable partner in nutrition, we
help to nourish a growing world population by offering
the most sustainable feed and arable solutions.

Strategy
The focus is: feed to farm, operational excellence
and reliability for our customers. Our feed and arable
solutions enable customers to produce quality products,
such as milk, meat, eggs and cereals. For this reason,
we are an essential link in the feed to food chain:
higher production from lower inputs.
Our continuing international growth enables us to
be efficient and innovative. It makes us an important
partner for the other links in the food chain, a leader
within the animal feed industry and an attractive
employer. We aim to win and our out of the box
solutions guarantee sustainable success.

6
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ForFarmers in 2013
ForFarmers is an ambitious feed company, active in North-West Europe in the sectors
ruminant, pig, poultry, horse and plant (arable and contracting). Core activities are the
production and sale of animal feed and the sale of trade articles (such as products for
the arable and grassland sector). Along with its products, ForFarmers offers customers
a supplementary package of services, ranging from comprehensive advice on animal
nutrition and livestock farming to assistance with business development. This enables
the farmer to achieve a noticeably better result. The slogan ‘the total feed business’
indicates precisely what ForFarmers stands for: supplying feed solutions in any form,
in line with the customer’s business objectives and circumstances.

For its feed activities, ForFarmers has 37 production
sites in the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany and the UK.
The company’s head office is in Lochem (the Netherlands).
ForFarmers has 2,214 employees (in FTE), of whom 828 are
based in the Netherlands, 321 in Germany, 78 in Belgium,
984 in the UK and 3 in other EU-countries. With annual
sales of 8.5 million tonnes of feed – of which around
6.4 million tonnes of compound feed – ForFarmers is
the European market leader in compound feed.

through acquisitions or through partnerships. During
2013, the feed activities of Hendrix in the Netherlands,
Belgium and Germany (hereafter ‘Hendrix’) and the
activities of animal feed producer BOCM PAULS in the
UK (hereafter ‘BOCM PAULS’) were further integrated
into ForFarmers.

Ambitions

Objectives 2016

Status 2013

ForFarmers aims to continue to be an attractive partner
for livestock and arable farmers by making a maximum
contribution to their profitability. Operational excellence and knowledge are therefore crucial. Scale and
globalization enable ForFarmers to lead and to offer
its customers the best value for money, leading to predictable results and demonstrably higher returns.

Focus on the customer

Implementation of
total feed to farm

10 million tonnes
of compound feed,
market leader in Europe

6.4 million tonnes

Active in at least
5 countries

In 2013,
active in 4 countries

In order to realise this ambition in a consolidating
and highly competitive market, further growth of the
company is necessary. Growth which can be achieved
by increasing our market share through organic growth,

Doubling of sales in
by-products (against 2011)

345%

Doubling of sales in trade
articles (against 2011)

144%

* Converted to fulltime-equivalent (FTE) as per year end.
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ForFarmers has set itself the following objectives for the
period up to 2016:

Status 2013

Corporate social responsibility

Return on normalised
equity of more than 12%

10.9%

Maximum Net debt/Ebitda
ratio of 2.5

0.13

From trading platform to
public exchange

Conditions have been
defined and are being
further developed

More than 4,000 tonnes
of compound feed per
FTE in the Netherlands,
Germany and Belgium and
more than 2,400 tonnes in
the UK

The Netherlands,
Germany and Belgium
produced 3,650 and
the UK produced
2,281 tonnes

Given the challenge of meeting the increased demand
for food from a growing world population, more must
be produced, while taking into account the environment and biodiversity. ForFarmers makes its contribution by producing feed in an increasingly efficient way,
and by using (where possible) alternative raw materials
such as by-products from the food and biofuel industries. This is also realised by ensuring that these feed
products are utilised efficiently by the animal, not
forgetting animal welfare.

Achieve excellent risk
management in
purchasing

Boundaries were set and
implementation has
started

Fully developed personnel
policy and management

New HR annual cycle
has started

Lead the way in
sustainability

KPI’s have been
formulated

Objectives 2016

Sustainability is one of ForFarmers’ core values and
is an integral part of our operation. The main themes
on which ForFarmers focuses are sustainable resources,
the environment, energy and waste reduction, animal
health and animal welfare, people and society.
ForFarmers considers ‘economic sustainability’ to be
crucial. This means that concern for sustainability and
cost reduction have to be mutually beneficial as much
as possible (environmental benefits as well as economic
benefits). In this way, ForFarmers fulfils its corporate
social responsibility.

Risk management

Attractive employer

ForFarmers firmly believes in providing transparent information to its stakeholders on how risks are handled.
Risk management is an important element in dealing
with risks that could threaten the achievement of
strategic and financial targets. The Board of Directors is
responsible for the overall company risk management.
It has delegated this responsibility to the management
teams of the Business Units, which are supported in
this task by the different group departments. The task
of establishing and coordinating risk management has
been given to the group control department.
In 2013, ForFarmers continued with the implementation
of its integral risk management programme. In general,
ForFarmers takes a cautious approach to risks. Due to
the increased size of the company and the high volatility
in raw material prices, the risks relating to purchasing
have increased. For this reason, the company focused
in particular on defining and re-assessing the risks relating to purchasing. The risk boundaries applying to the
organisation as a whole have been translated to boundaries for the different Business Units.

To achieve its ambitions, ForFarmers needs well-trained,
highly skilled and motivated employees. A challenging,
international working environment with ample opportunities for advancement is a prerequisite to attract the
right people and to keep them within the organisation.
The core values of Ambition, Sustainability and Profitability reflect the organisational culture. Employees are
challenged to translate these core values into specific
actions and objectives for their day-to-day activities.

New market approach of ForFarmers
Hendrix in the Netherlands
The market approach of ForFarmers Hendrix in the
Netherlands is based on a combination of direct sales
and sales via dealers. At the initiative of the dealers in
the pig sector, ForFarmers Hendrix and the pig sector
dealers are working together in a different way since
1 April 2013, in order to provide an even better service
to customers. ForFarmers Hendrix has from that date
taken over the credit management from the dealers.
As of 1 January 2014, invoicing and customer services
will also be carried out by ForFarmers Hendrix. As a
result, from that date, ForFarmers Hendrix will work
in the pig sector using the direct sales model.

Annual report 2013 - ForFarmers B.V.

9

Acquisitions and disposals
ForFarmers aims to be Europe’s most customer-oriented
company for animal nutrition and arable products. This
is also the base of the company’s growth strategy. The
steps taken by ForFarmers in 2013 are in line with this
strategy.

Acquisitions in 2013
Albert E. James & Son Ltd.
On 19 February 2013, BOCM PAULS acquired trading
company Albert E. James & Son Ltd. in Bristol (UK). This
trading company has annual sales of 12,000 tonnes of
feed, including 10,500 tonnes of bulk feed. As a result
of the acquisition, livestock farmers are now dealing
directly with BOCM PAULS, thus minimising the costs
of the supply chain.

10

Subli horse feed
On 1 June 2013, ForFarmers increased its share in Subli
from 25% to 50%. Subli horse feed is active in the
Dutch market.
Dealer activities in the pig sector
During 2013, the dealer activities in the Dutch pig sector
were integrated into the ForFarmers Hendrix organisation.

Disposals in 2013
Agrovision B.V
Because of focus on the core activities, ForFarmers
sold its share in Agrovision B.V. (23%) on 5 June 2013.
Agrovision continues to supply the agricultural market
with software and advice on IT.

Acquisitions in 2014
HST Feeds Ltd.
On 3 February 2014, ForFarmers acquired 100% of the
share capital of HST Feeds Ltd. HST Feeds Ltd. is based
in Crewe (UK) and sells approximately 140,000 tonnes
of ruminant and poultry compound feed in the NorthWest of England. HST Feeds Ltd. will operate within
BOCM PAULS, the ForFarmers Business Unit in the UK.
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Information on shares
of ForFarmers B.V.
History: In 2005, it was decided to register the equity of Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
on the names of its members. For this purpose, the company’s activities were in 2007
transferred to ForFarmers B.V., as the company is called since 19 June 2013. In exchange
for transferring its activities to ForFarmers B.V., Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. received
100 million shares in ForFarmers B.V.
As of 2007, under the ‘Vermogen op Naam’ (Equity on
Name) programme, the Company’s equity is largely being
transferred from the Cooperative to its members, over
the course of ten years. In 2007, 'Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers' (a trust office foundation) was established. In 2010, the 100 million shares in ForFarmers B.V.
held by the Cooperative were converted into certificates,
which were issued by the Stichting. In total, around
106 million certificates were issued, of which around
6 million were allocated to ForFarmers employees
under an employee-participation scheme. The employees
shares are subject to a five-year lock-up period after
acquiring the certificates. After the first lock-up period
having expired in 2012, the lock-up period for another
1.3 million certificates expired in 2013. These certificates can by now be traded freely. For the last
136,000 certificates bought under the employeeparticipation scheme, the lock-up period will expire
in May 2014.
Certificate holders can claim the voting rights on certificates from the trust office foundation. The Cooperative
can claim unlimited voting rights on the certificates it
holds. For other certificate holders, this right is in principle
limited to 5%.
The Supervisory Board of ForFarmers, three of whose
six members are also supervisory directors of Coöperatie
FromFarmers U.A., may decide to increase this figure to
a maximum of 15%.

12

Trading platform
As of 8 November 2010, it is possible to trade in certificates via a multilateral trading facility. F. van Lanschot
Bankiers N.V. operates this trading platform, for which
it holds a licence from the Netherlands Authority for
the Financial Markets (Autoriteit Financiële Markten
- AFM). On this trading platform, both members of
Coöperatie FromFarmers and third parties can trade
in ForFarmers B.V. share certificates.
In 2013, there were 3,126 transactions in certificates.
In those transactions, a total of 21,657,986 certificates
were traded (based on double counting). This means
an average of 85,268 certificates per day.
From trading platform to public exchange
On 28 November 2013, the members’ council of
Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. took a decision on
the conditions that will apply in case of a possible
move from trading platform to a public exchange.
Starting point is that the Cooperative’s control must
be guaranteed. This will be achieved through protective measures, as regularly applied in such a situation.

In the case of ForFarmers B.V., this concerns the
following protective measures:
• Composition of the Supervisory Board
Coöperatie FromFarmers will have the right to
nominate four out of the six supervisory members
of ForFarmers B.V. as long as it has over 50% of the
voting rights. If the Cooperative has less than 50%
and more than 20% of the voting rights, it will have
the right to nominate three members.
• Oligarchic rights
This concerns provisions in the articles of association
of ForFarmers B.V., which assign certain special rights
to the Executive Board, to the Supervisory Board and/
or to holders of a special (priority) share. Decisions by
the Supervisory Board concerning the emission of
shares need to be taken by a 75% majority.
A further provision in the articles of association
stipulates that such decisions can be taken by the
general meeting only when the prescribed procedure
has been followed. Supplementary agreements can
be laid down in regulations.
• Priority share
This means that Coöperatie FromFarmers has and
will retain control over important issues. With the
priority share, the Coöperatie will have special,
permanent controlling rights on previously agreed
issues, such as:
• The right to nominate a number of members of
		 the Supervisory Board;
• Profile Supervisory Board;
• Regulation on sub-committees;
• Amendments to the articles of association or to
		 certain specific articles;
• Legal merger and/or division;
• Decisions on major investments/disposals, mergers,
		 acquisitions, joint ventures and changes to the
		 identity or character of ForFarmers B.V.;
• Moving the head office to a place outside of the
		 east of the Netherlands;
• As long as Coöperatie FromFarmers has a stake
		 of over 50%, it will also have control over how the
		 role of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is
		 filled in.
The priority share expires as soon as the Cooperative’s
voting right drops below 20%.

• Protective preferential shares
These protective shares must prevent a hostile
takeover, as well as any undesired change to the
company structure. In summary, a new, independent
foundation is to be established, with an independent board, which will have the possibility to obtain
and exercise, on a temporary basis (up to two years),
a majority of the voting rights at the general meeting.
This will work via the ownership of the protective
preferential shares issued.
A final decision on the move from trading platform to
a public exchange must be made at a general meeting
of ForFarmers B.V.
Breakdown of certificates issued as per
31 December 2013
Total number of certificates

106,261,040

Held by ForFarmers

- 466,392

Number of certificates issued

105,794,648

Distribution of certificates
issued
Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
Certificates in lock-up
Other certificate holders
Total

78,443,350 74.1%
135,911 0.1%
27,215,387 25.8%
105,794,648 100%

Per end of 2013, the Cooperative held, including the
certificates of the members, 78.6% of the voting rights
in ForFarmers B.V.
Liquidity provider
The role of liquidity provider is fulfilled by
SNS Securities N.V. The most important function of
the liquidity provider is to support the trade in certificates by issuing buy and sell orders.
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Provision of information
ForFarmers’ policy is to provide existing and potential
shareholders with timely and complete information
about relevant developments. This is how ForFarmers
meets the requirements laid down in the Financial
Supervision Act (Wet Financieel Toezicht). Compliance
with this act is monitored by the AFM.
Price-sensitive information is distributed by means of
a press release. If possible, press releases are published
before or after trading hours, and they will be submitted
to an agreed list of agricultural, financial and general
press organisations. In addition, press releases are posted
on the websites of ForFarmers B.V. (www.forfarmers.eu)
and of Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. (www.fromfarmers.eu)
and on the website of the AFM.
At the time of publication of the annual figures,
ForFarmers will organise a press conference.
Reports of external analysts about ForFarmers or its
shares are made available through a link on the
ForFarmers website.
General meeting
The general meeting will be held on Tuesday 15 April 2014
at the venue ‘De Witkamp’ in Laren, Gld. (The Netherlands).
Dividend proposal for 2013
The general meeting on 15 April 2014 will be asked to
approve a proposal to pay out a dividend of € 0.13618
per share of € 1.00 nominal (2012: € 0.11535). This corresponds to a payout ratio of 50% of the normalised result
after taxation.
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ForFarmers' dividend policy is to pay a dividend of
between 40% and 50% of the result after tax, adjusted
for extraordinary items (such as book profits, and taking
into account taxes) minus the difference between dividends received from non-consolidated interests and the
dividend percentage for the company as a whole. This
method takes into account the strategy and a healthy
balance sheet structure.
Within these principles, ForFarmers B.V. aims for a stable
development of the cash dividend paid to its shareholders.
Important dates in 2014
25 March Publication of annual report ForFarmers B.V.
15 April General meeting
16 April Ex-dividend date
22 April Dividend available for payment

Key figures per share of ForFarmers B.V.
(in € per share)

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

Result of financial year
Result of financial year, normalised
Dividend
Payout ratio
Net asset value

0.29
0.27
0.136
50%
3.20

0.50
0.38
0.115
30%
3.07

0.21
0.20
0.061
30%
2.62

0.38
0.30
0.090
30%
2.51

0.47
0.32
0.096
30%
2.22

3.08
2.11
3.08

2.60
1.85
2.15

2.87
1.81
2.09

2.85
2.47
2.58

-

105,795
338,367
325,848

105,255
322,904
226,298

105,482
276,668
220,458

106,194
266,435
273,981

106,261
236,253
-

10.5

4.2

10.1

6.8

-

Highest price
Lowest price
Closing price
Number of shares issued (x thousand)
Net asset value (x thousand €)
Market value at closing rate (x thousand €)
Price-earnings ratio (at closing rate)

Closing rate certificates as per day

€ 4,50
€ 3,50
€ 3,00
€ 2,50
€ 2,00
€ 1,50
€ 1,00
€ 0,50
€ 0,00
Dec 2010

June 2011

Dec 2011

June 2012

Dec 2012

June 2013

Dec 2013
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Report from the
Board of Directors
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Foreword
The trends of specialisation and scale-increase
at agricultural businesses continue unabated.
ForFarmers must keep pace with this. Scale is crucial
in order to continuously offer our customers better
value for money and in order to invest sufficiently
in knowledge and innovation. Agricultural entrepreneurs increasingly ask for specialist knowledge
and (feed) solutions that enable them to work successfully. Thanks to its focus on feed in the broadest sense of the word, ForFarmers can offer those
solutions.
2013 was largely dominated by the integration of
ForFarmers, Hendrix and BOCM PAULS. A major project
was the harmonisation of the IT systems: all ForFarmers
companies are now operating on one ERP-platform (SAP).
Another large project was to implement a uniform
product range for our customers: ForFarmers now
has a comparable product range in the Netherlands,
Belgium and in Germany.
Re-allocation and additional investments in production
have further improved the efficiency.
The basic cost level of own personnel, dealer organisation and external transport has decreased by the
equivalent of 200 FTE’s against the period before the
combination of ForFarmers and Hendrix per end 2011.
The integration of BOCM PAULS mainly involved the
support departments, such as the Nutrition Innovation
Centre, Health Safety & Quality, Logistics, Procurement,
Marketing, Communication, Human Resource
Management and Information Technology. By now,
all these departments are working together across
the four countries.

In addition, trans-national ‘platforms’ have been set up
to stimulate the international cooperation and synergy
within ForFarmers. Within these platforms, colleagues
from different countries work together in a structured
manner on joint applications and improvements in the
areas of sustainability, innovation, IT and marketing/
communication.
On 1 January 2014, undersigned took office as CEO of
ForFarmers. In December 2013, the organisation said
goodbye to Bert-Jan Ruumpol, who led the organisation for the previous eleven years as CEO. Under his
leadership, ForFarmers changed its course; the company
developed from a regional player into an international
company. Thanks to the vision and leadership of
Bert-Jan Ruumpol, the company has grown to be
the number one compound feed supplier in Europe.
ForFarmers took great steps forward in 2013. The operating results of the Business Units were satisfactory. The
net result was significantly impacted by an extra addition
to the provision for bad debts. The operational performance in 2013 shows that the organisation is ready for
2014. The dedication and involvement of all employees
has been crucial for this. The Board has much appreciation for the efforts made and would like to thank the
employees for their contribution in the past year.

Lochem, 20 March 2014

Yoram Knoop,
CEO

Although the change process following the integration
between ForFarmers, BOCM PAULS and Hendrix was
accompanied by the inevitable start up problems,
most integration processes went smoothly. Innovative
products were launched and the technical (animal)
performance and phosphate efficiency on the farm
further improved.
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Composition of the
Board of Directors
Director of
Nutrition
(CNO)
Nico de Vos (1956,

Managing
Director (CEO)

joined ForFarmers in
March 1988 and has

Finance
Director
(CFO)

Yoram Knoop (1969,

been a member of

Arnout Traas

Dutch nationality)

the Board since

(1959, Dutch

has worked for

June 1995. His current

nationality)

ForFarmers since

position is Director

has worked for

November 2013 and

of Nutrition. He

ForFarmers

since 1 January 2014

is responsible for

as Finance

is the CEO of

Procurement, the

Director since

ForFarmers B.V., as

Nutrition Innova-

August 2011.

well as chairman

tion Centre, Health

He is responsible

of the Board of

Safety and Quality,

for Controlling/

Directors. As CEO,

Optimisation, Engi-

Administration,

he is responsible

neering & Projects

Information

for strategy and

and Logistics. In

Technology and

acquisitions, Human

addition, he is

Legal Affairs. His

Resource Manage-

within the Board

contract is for an

ment and for deve-

responsible for

indefinite period.

loping new markets.

FF Logistics. His

By virtue of his

He has a fixed-term

contract is for an

position, he

contract which runs

indefinite period.

is a member

till the general mee-

By virtue of his

of the Board of

ting of 2018 with the

position, he is a

Administrators of

option to extend the

Member of the

Solidair Pensioen

contract. By virtue of

Board at Industriële

and a member of

his position, he is a

Kring Lochem and

Solidair Pensioen’s

member of FEFAC’s

at Stichting GMP+

Investment

Steering Group.

International.

Committee.

Dutch nationality)

Yoram Knoop
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Nico de Vos

Arnout Traas

Director
(COO)
Jan Potijk (1958,
Dutch nationality)
ForFarmers since

Director
(COO)

August 1983 and

Ronald van de Ven

has been a member

(1961, Dutch natio-

of the Board since

nality) has worked

July 2000. His current

for ForFarmers

position is COO and

since April 2012.

in that capacity, he

In his capacity of

is responsible for

COO, he is responsi-

Director
(COO)

ForFarmers Hendrix

ble for ForFarmers

Iain Gardner (1962,

(ruminant and pig

Hendrix (poultry

Scottish nationa-

in the Netherlands),

and Belgium),

lity) has worked for

FarmFeed Hedimix,

ForFarmers

ForFarmers since

Pavo and Reudink. In

(Germany),

July 2012 and is

addition, he manages

ForFarmers

responsible for

the Marketing &

Thesing, Hendrix

the operations in

Communications

Illesch and HaBeMa.

the UK. He is also

portfolio. His contract

His contract is for

Managing Director

is for an indefinite

an indefinite period.

of BOCM PAULS.

period. By virtue of

By virtue of his

In addition, he

his position, he is a

position, he is a

manages the

Supervisory Director

Supervisory Director

procurement

at Subli B.V. and a

at HaBeMa and a

portfolio (excluding

Board member at

Board member

raw materials) and

Nevedi and at

at the DVT

corporate affairs.

Stichting Gezins-

(Deutsche Verband

His contract is for

bedrijf Plus.

Tiernahrung E.V.).

an indefinite period.

has worked for

Jan Potijk

Ronald van de Ven

Iain Gardner
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ForFarmers consists of Business Units (BU’s). Each director is responsible for the activities of a cluster of Business Units.

CEO
Yoram Knoop

CFO

CNO

Arnout Traas

Nico de Vos

•
•
•
•

COO

COO

COO

Jan Potijk

Ronald van de Ven**

Iain Gardner

Ruminant
Pig
Other products
FarmFeed Hedimix

• Pavo
• Reudink*

the Netherlands
the Netherlands
the Netherlands
the Netherlands
Belgium
Germany
International
the Netherlands
Belgium
Germany

• Ruminant
• Pig
• Poultry

Belgium
Germany
Belgium
Germany
the Netherlands
Belgium
Germany

• BOCM PAULS
UK
• North
• South
• Pig, Poultry and Speciality
• Feeds Marketing
• HST Feeds***

Jan Potijk is responsible for the following Business Units:
ForFarmers Hendrix (the Netherlands) – ruminant, pig, plant and FarmConsult –
produces and supplies compound feed and sells trade articles (such as arable and
grassland management products) to Dutch ruminant, pig and arable farmers. It works,
for the ruminant sector, with a professional dealer network.
FarmFeed Hedimix (the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany) is a supplier of liquid and
dry by-products, high-moisture feed, roughages, single feed and bedding materials
for the ruminant and pig sectors. It has tank parks at several locations for the storage
of residual products from, for example dairy factories or breweries, and for the production of liquid products for the livestock sector.
Pavo International produces and supplies horse feed in several European countries.
As well as through direct sales, feed is sold through national outlets. In addition,
Pavo provides its customers with comprehensive advice.
Reudink* (the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany) is a compound feed firm for the organic
farming sector in North-West Europe. It produces and supplies organic ruminant, pig
and poultry feed.

* Reudink is part of Jan Potijk’s portfolio as from 1 April 2014.
** Ronald van de Ven is also responsible for the joint venture HaBeMa in Germany.
*** Acquired as per 3 February 2014.
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Ronald van de Ven is responsible for the following Business Units:
			
			
			

ForFarmers Hendrix – layers and broilers – supplies compound feed
to Dutch and Belgian layer and broiler farms. This Business Unit also includes
PoultryPlus (formerly Opfok de KuikenaeR).

			
			

ForFarmers Hendrix (Belgium) produces and supplies compound feed to Belgian
ruminant and pig farmers.

			
			
			
			

ForFarmers (Germany) produces and supplies compound feed to German livestock
farmers. It also has a site where semi-finished products are made for the pet food 		
industry. As well as through direct sales, feed products are also sold via the German
‘Landhandel’ (dealers).

			ForFarmers Thesing (Germany) is a 60%-owned subsidiary of ForFarmers and it supplies
			
compound feed and by-products to livestock farmers in Germany and in the Netherlands.
			
As well as through direct sales, feed products are also sold via the German ‘Landhandel’
			
(dealers).
			
			
			

Hendrix Illesch (Germany) is active in Eastern Germany, where it sells mainly raw
materials, premixes, minerals and concentrates, and special by-products, as well as
on a smaller scale, compound feed to ruminant and pig farmers in Eastern Germany.

Iain Gardner is responsible for the following Business Units:
•
•
•
		
		
•
		
•
		

BU North and BU South (UK): mainly ruminant (compound feed and blends).
BU Pig, Poultry and Speciality (UK): pig, poultry and speciality markets. This unit 		
also includes BOCM PAULS International with an international network of agents for
the sale of special piglet starter and pre-starter feed in several European countries.
BU Feeds Marketing (UK) markets by-products of the human food industry
(from breweries and whisky distilleries) that are suitable for animal feed.
HST Feeds*** sells ruminant and poultry compound feed in the North-West of
England.

Apart from compound feed, BOCM PAULS also supplies an extensive range of
by-products, single feed, vitamin- and mineral-mixes and premixes.
All Business Units offer customers a supplementary package of services, ranging from comprehensive advice
to support with business development.
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Sustainability
The challenges and the opportunities that the food production chain is facing in the
years ahead are generally known. A growing world population, increasing wealth and
urbanisation lead to an increasing demand for food, which means that the production
of meat, milk and eggs will need to increase. The availability of arable land, energy and
water however is limited. Plus, the possible effects of climate change have to be taken
into account. Consequently, an increase in food
production can only be realised by improving
efficiency in productivity, feed conversion and
growth rates at farm level. By producing feed in
a more efficient manner and by ensuring that
animals can utilise this feed more effectively,
ForFarmers contributes towards sustainable production as well as to economic sustainability.

Given its position in the food supply chain, ForFarmers
aims to be a leader in operating sustainably and thus
make its contribution to solving the global food problem.
Sustainability can be interpreted in many ways; in the
vision of ForFarmers, it includes social, environmental
and economic responsibilities. For ForFarmers, this
means that it has to use raw materials, energy and water
in a responsible manner. A more efficient use of raw
materials has the same double effect. It is important
that any sustainability initiative is commercially viable,
both for ForFarmers and for its customers.
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ForFarmers Sustainability Platform is responsible for
all of ForFarmers’ activities in the area of sustainability,
including contacts with external stakeholders. The
Platform monitors the progress of sustainability
initiatives based on previously agreed, measurable
key performance indicators.

International focus
During the past year, the different Business Units of
ForFarmers have started sharing their knowledge in
the area of sustainability. This has led to ForFarmers’
vision of sustainability being redefined so that the
organisation:
• is aware of its role and takes its responsibility as a 		
market leader in animal feed production;
• has retained sustainability as one of its core values;
• monitors the progress against agreed, measurable KPI’s;
• makes its employees and customers aware of the
impact their activities have on sustainability;
• actively participates in several relevant sustainability
networks and initiatives, such as in international organisations like FEFAC (European Feed Manufacturers’		
Federation).
Themes
Starting point is the ambition to produce and supply
feed in a sustainable manner. This is why the organisation focuses on themes that are close to its core
activities and which it can influence, directly or
indirectly. These are:
• responsible sourcing of raw materials
• environment, energy and waste reduction
• animal health and welfare
• people and society
In developing and implementing these themes,
ForFarmers acknowledges the differences between
the countries in which it operates. This is why there is,
in addition to the overall company policy, the opportunity for each country to put its own accents so that
they can respond to specific issues or legislation, such
as non-GMO commodities in Germany and extensive
livestock systems in the UK.
Responsible sourcing of raw materials
ForFarmers aims to use raw materials which have been
responsibly produced and to apply its nutritional expertise
to ensure that the feed produced can be utilised more
effectively by animals.

Precise energy measurement of raw materials
Through a precise measurement of the energy value
of raw materials, the feed and the ration can be more
precisely matched with the nutritional needs of animals.
This leads to a better utilisation of feed, nitrogen and
phosphate. This way, ForFarmers helps customers to
improve feed conversion and to use minerals and
phosphates in an efficient manner.
Use of residual products from the food industry
Many by-products from the food industry can be used
as input for animal feed. ForFarmers processes these
materials into its dry feed as well as into high-moisture
diets for ruminants and pigs.
Soya, other sources of protein and palm oil
• The sourcing of raw materials from certain geographical
regions requires particular attention. Soya is on the
agenda of all those involved in the feed to food chain.
The Netherlands and Belgium have committed
themselves to source 100% responsibly produced 		
soya by 2015. In order to achieve this commitment,
sufficient quantities of responsibly produced soya 		
must be available at a competitive price.
ForFarmers also plays an active role as a member of
the initiative for Sustainable Soya of the Round Table
on Responsible Soya (RTRS) and of the task forces
Sustainable Soya of the feed industry organisations
Nevedi (the Netherlands) and AIC (UK).
Through the various national and European feed 		
industry associations, ForFarmers is actively helping to
develop a set of standards for the import of respon-		
sibly produced soya. These and other initiatives have
established minimum criteria for responsible soya.
• In its Dutch factories, ForFarmers processes organic
soya (1.6% of total volume of soya used), Pro-Terra
soya (8.4%), and responsibly produced soya which
is purchased collectively as part of Nevedi (34.2%).
In total, 44.2% of soya processed by ForFarmers in
the Netherlands comes from a certified sustainable
source.

Annual report 2013 - ForFarmers B.V.

25

• In the UK and the Netherlands, the animal feed sector
takes part in an industry coalition which has agreed to
purchase only sustainably sourced palm oil by 2015.
In addition to this specific commitment, ForFarmers
will also where possible participate in or give support
to initiatives in the area of palm oil purchasing,
together with governments or NGO’s.
• ForFarmers is also following initiatives investigating
alternative sources of protein in order to reduce the
reliance on imported soya. ForFarmers participates
for example in a joint project for the production of
proteinrich duckweed which is used in ruminant feed.
• Furthermore in 2013, ForFarmers, together with universities and the feed industry, started research into
the use of insects in broiler feed. Insect larvae are very
suitable to produce high-quality protein. This way,
an innovative contribution is made to improving
the sustainability of animal protein production.
Calcium from drinking water
ForFarmers is investigating how calcium from drinking
water can be used in feed, to replace calcium that is
sourced in the regular way.
Environment, energy and waste reduction
ForFarmers aims to increase the sustainability of its
production processes wherever possible, in energy
consumption as well as in transport.
Energy consumption for feed production
The animal feed sector has managed to significantly
optimise energy consumption for feed production.
ForFarmers nevertheless has set itself the task of achieving
further improvements in this respect. An energy
efficiency plan spanning several years has been put
in place, in order to reduce energy consumption at
every production site. Per location, possible energysaving measures are being developed. For each
measure, the energy-reducing effect is calculated,
comparing under equal circumstances. All data
concerning energy consumption, newly introduced
measures and the reduction achieved, are recorded
and monitored per site. In 2013, this approach resulted
in an average reduction in energy consumption of
1.9% at the ForFarmers Hendrix sites in the Netherlands.

26

In 2014, this approach will be rolled out across sites
in Belgium, Germany and the UK. The target is an
average 1.5% reduction in energy used per year at
the ForFarmers sites.
Energy consumption in transport
Energy consumption is taken into account whenever
investments are made, such as in new lorries that comply
with Euro 6, the emission standard for vehicles which
came into force in the EU on 31 December 2013.
Further efficiency savings and fuel efficiency can be
achieved, for example by optimising the organisation
of freight on return trips and by educating drivers
about fuel-efficient driving. Energy consumption per
kilometre of the dedicated transport in the Netherlands
and Germany fell by 2.5% last year compared to 2012.
In the UK, BOCM PAULS monitors its transport fleet
intensively and ensures that it is able to implement
improvements in efficiency wherever possible or
necessary. As well as this, drivers at BOCM PAULS
receive around seven hours of training every year for
their ‘Driver’s Certificate of Professional Competence’
(CPC). The training programme includes safe and
economic driving. As of 2015, the CPC has become
compulsory for all lorry drivers.
ISO 50001
In the spring of 2013, ForFarmers Langförden in Germany
was one of the first compound feed businesses to
become ISO 50001-certified. During the year, HaBeMa
was also certified. ISO 50001 has been the standard for
energy management systems since 2011 and provides
a framework for organisations to manage and improve
their energy-related performance. This is in line with
targets for the efficient use of energy. ForFarmers Thesing,
ForFarmers BM and Hendrix Illesch will be going
through the same process throughout 2014. Actively
implementing sustainable energy management is
encouraged and supported in Germany through
lower energy prices.
In the Netherlands, the feed sector has entered into
an Energy Savings Agreement with the government.

The ‘KringloopWijzer’ (Annual Nutrient Cycling)
The ‘KringloopWijzer’ is a tool for tracking the flow
of minerals on a livestock farm. Intended for dairy
farmers in the Netherlands, it can be used to minimise
losses of nitrogen, phosphate and carbon into the soil,
water and air, thus promoting sustainable agriculture.
ForFarmers is contributing expertise and advice to a
range of research projects studying the practical
application of ‘KringloopWijzer’.
Animal health and welfare
Animal health is important for consumers and for farmers.
Healthy animals feel better, perform better, live longer
and need less medication which means they are more
productive. ForFarmers helps customers maintain high
standards of health and welfare by providing highquality foods and advice.
Health as the basis of products and concepts
ForFarmers supports livestock farmers with a focused
management approach for each sector in the field of
health. There have also been developments in this area.
The 'Piglet vitality check' was further improved in 2013.
This check offers pig farmers means to improve pig
vitality on their own farms. ForFarmers subsequently
launched the measuring tool ‘Biest-Score’ for sow
farmers. This measuring tool shows the quantity of
antibodies that the piglet receives via the mother milk.
At the start of 2014, participant number one hundred
signed up for this service in the Netherlands.
The special Vita-feed ranges were also introduced this
year which give extra support to animal health. Other
examples of products introduced to support animal
health and welfare are given in the chapter ‘The total
feed business’: how it works (page 51).
Outdoor pig farming in the UK
Outdoor pig farming in the UK has grown quickly over
the last decade as a result of public demand for less
intensive farming. It now represents approximately 50%
of pig production in the UK. BOCM PAULS develops
specific nutritional solutions for outdoor-housed pigs.

Gildehoen
In 2011, ForFarmers and some chain partners introduced
the ‘Gildehoen’ concept. The Gildehoen concept makes
a difference in terms of animal welfare (animals grow
more slowly), reduction of antibiotics use and economic
sustainability. The Gildehoen concept was further
developed in 2013. Especially the antibiotics use has
now been reduced to a minimum. Twenty broiler
farmers are participating in the project. In 2013,
between 20,000 and 25,000 Gildehoen chickens were
slaughtered weekly. Most Gildehoen chickens are sold
to high-quality butchers. They are also supplied to
supermarket chains, poulterers and a hospital.
The ‘Beter Leven’ (‘Better life’) scheme
In 2013, ForFarmers and its supply chain partners
managed to supply some 25,000 chickens weekly
through the ‘Beter Leven’ scheme. The ‘Beter Leven’
scheme was launched onto the Dutch market in
participation with the Dierenbescherming (society for
protection of animals). It entails the following requirements: chickens get more space and a more enriched
environment, they grow slower and live longer, get
natural light and a normal lighting schedule. Furthermore,
health care is done in a structured way and the use of
antibiotics is reduced. The chickens produced within
this scheme are found on the shelves of supermarkets.
Because chickens from this welfare-friendly scheme
must be fed differently from traditional chickens,
ForFarmers introduced a feed concept for slowgrowing broilers in late 2013. The name of this feed
concept is WelFair. WelFair feed will be actively put
on the market in 2014.
Animal health and environment
Zinc is an indispensable nutrient in feed, but through
manure it can also lead to environmental problems.
By developing new feed products, ForFarmers has
been able to lower the added zinc concentration in pig
feed in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany while
maintaining animal health and performance.
ForFarmers supports initiatives that help reduce antibiotics use. One example of this is the zinc oxide
agreement in Belgium.
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People and society
ForFarmers is investing in its employees, for example
by providing training, both internally and externally.
This will allow the company to make optimum use of
the talent it has in the work force. The steps ForFarmers
has taken in this area are detailed on page 56.

Indicators

Sustainability also includes a social component.
Examples of projects that ForFarmers supports:

The share of sustainable soya in the total soya use
		 in the Dutch factories is 44.2%. (2012: 32.7%)

Wageningen University Fund
ForFarmers participates in the Lignin-project since 2013.
This project examines how the use of fungi can allow
poorly digestible sources such as straw to be used to
feed goats in third world countries.
Educational Project ‘Feed on Tour’
A guest lecture, in combination with a field trip to a
nearby farm is used to introduce children aged 9 to
12 to livestock farming, the animal feed industry and
sustainability issues in the industry.
BIG Challenge
ForFarmers supports the BIG Challenge/Alpe d’HuZes,
that raises funds for cancer research. In 2013 the
ForFarmers team collected more than 90,000 Euro
by climbing the Alpe d’Huez, 4 to 6 times per team
member.
The Prince’s Dairy Initiative
In 2013, BOCM PAULS supported the Prince’s Dairy
Initiative, which was created to help small to mediumsized dairy farms with targeted business advice
aimed at improving their efficiency. This initiative,
which started in 2012 with 74 farmers, has in the
meantime expanded into five regions across the UK.
The project can now count on the support of all major
processors in the dairy industry. The aim for the next
three years is to help another 300 farmers through
this project.
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ForFarmers’ products across all sectors are based on
a consistent nutritional approach. Although the following indicators are largely based on performance
in the Netherlands, the trends in general terms also
apply to the countries in which ForFarmers is active.

		
		
		
		
		

The phosphate efficiency for ruminants
decreased by 3.8%, which is especially due to
the lower production per cow in 2013 and a
slightly higher phosphate content in the total
ration. The life production per cow improved
by 1.8% (2012: 2.4%).

The feed conversion for finishing pigs improved
		 by 2.3%. (2012: 2.7%)
The mortality rate for finishing pigs decreased
		 by 9.1%. (2012: 4.3%)
The feed conversion for layers improved by 2.7%.
		 (2012: 1.4% down)
The feed conversion for broilers has improved by
		 1.8%. (2012: 1.6%)
The mortality rate for broilers increased by 3.5%,
		 in line with the national trend. (2012: 6.0%
		 decrease)
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Developments in
the raw materials market
The cost of compound feed is largely determined
by the prices ForFarmers pays for raw materials. The
procurement of raw materials is therefore an important
activity for ForFarmers. The international procurement
team keeps a close watch on the developments in the
raw materials market in order to buy materials at the
lowest possible price and in the most efficient manner,
to secure timely delivery.
The company’s need for raw materials has increased in
line with its growth, making ForFarmers an even more
attractive partner for suppliers. By making an optimal
allocation of the raw materials across the production
sites and a more efficient utilisation of available storage
facilities, ForFarmers achieves considerable synergy
benefits. This enables ForFarmers to supply quality
products with a sharp quality-price ratio.
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From the perspective of food safety, the quality of all
raw materials supplied must be guaranteed. For this
reason, ForFarmers collaborates with a select group
of suppliers per category of raw materials. This way,
a further efficiency improvement in the supply chain,
an exchange of market information and stability in
the supply of raw resources is guaranteed.
ForFarmers carries out regular audits to verify whether
its raw materials suppliers execute all of their processes
correctly. This quality assurance is also realised by participating in Trust Feed. This is an organisation of 65 Dutch
and Belgian feed companies that collectively inspect
and guarantee the safety of raw materials supplied
to them. In Germany, this quality assurance is the responsibility of QS (Qualität und Sicherheit). This quality
assurance system is comparable with the GMP+ system
used in the Netherlands.

BOCM PAULS, as part of the Agricultural Industries
Confederation (AIC), complies with the Universal Feed
Assurance Scheme (UFAS). UFAS is a guideline for the
production and transport of animal feed in line with
HACCP rules.

ForFarmers supports sector-wide initiatives that lead to
a joint sustainability approach for the entire agricultural
sector. This concerns the purchase of sustainable soya
(the Netherlands and Belgium), palm oil (UK and the
Netherlands) and sustainable fish meal (UK).

Despite all of the precautionary measures, the feed
sector in Europe was hit by a problem with aflatoxin in
early 2013. At the start of 2013, the dairy sector raised
an alert about slightly increased aflatoxin levels in milk.
The cause turned out to be feed containing maize from
South-Eastern Europe with increased aflatoxin levels.
Even though no levels in excess of statutory limits were
detected in the feed, the Dutch compound feed sector
decided to recall feed containing this maize from the
dairy farmers concerned. Similar actions were taken in
Germany.
This whole issue prompted the European FEFAC federation
to evaluate, together with raw materials suppliers, how to
further reduce the risk of this type of situation.

Global market developments in 2013
Due to the growing need of the world population for
animal proteins, the demand for agricultural raw materials is increasing. At the same time, these raw materials
are increasingly being used as biofuel. As a result, there
is much competition on the global commodities market
from producers of bioenergy. In the long term, the
demand for raw materials will grow faster than the
supply, which will lead to structurally high and highly
volatile prices.
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Vegetable proteins
Protein prices have remained high throughout 2013.
This was due to a number of causes. The soya stocks
in North America were low and farmers in Argentina
refused to sell their soya because of the high inflation.
In addition, logistical problems in Brazil caused considerable delays in the shipping of soya to Europe, so
that stock levels in Europe could not recover adequately.
The price of rapeseed and sunflower meal also were
comparatively high at the start of 2013, which was also
related to the high soya meal prices. Abundant harvests
of rapeseed and sunflower in the second half of 2013
nevertheless led to the price of rapeseed and sunflower
meal to go down.

Cereals
The year started with relatively low global stocks and
comparatively high market prices for cereals. In the
second half of 2013, the supply of maize increased
considerably. Particularly in North America and the
Black Sea region, we observed a marked increase in
maize production, leading to a less tight overall cereals
balance so that end stocks could increase. This initially
caused the price to fall. This trend was however curbed
by heavy rainfall in September, which caused a major
delay in the maize harvest, both in North-Western
Europe and in the Black Sea region. The high rainfall
also caused delays in the shipment of commodities.
The delayed supply of maize and the sustained high
demand for wheat and barley resulted in sharply
increasing cereals prices in the fourth quarter.

European commodity prices in 2013 (Euro per metric tonne)
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GMO (genetically modified organisms)
The supply of non-GMO soya beans is decreasing. It is
becoming increasingly difficult to convince growers in
South America to grow non-GMO soya beans, because
of the benefits they derive from growing GMO crops.
The decreasing volume results in higher logistical costs
and an increased risk of cross-contamination. The additional cost of non-GMO soya beans is rising strongly,
increasing the pressure on the processing industry to
reassess the current requirements.
Organic raw materials
In the first half of 2013, the market for organic raw
materials was characterised by a low supply of organic
cereals. This caused a price increase. After the cereals
harvest in mid-2013, there was an adequate supply
again, particularly from Europe. Initially, the supply
of organic protein materials was adequate, but in the
second half of the year, the supply of several proteinrich materials went down. There is also an increasing
shortfall in the supply of raw materials for some specific
market concepts in Germany.
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Developments in the agricultural sector
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At a global level, the agricultural sector faces the
challenge of producing enough food for a growing
world population. Consumption of meat, eggs and
milk is sharply increasing, particularly due to the
increasing prosperity in emerging economies. This
presents opportunities for agricultural entrepreneurs.
The global demand for dairy produce is growing
faster than the supply and the consequences of this
imbalance are now becoming apparent. Europe,
Australia/New-Zealand and America are the only
exporting regions able to increase the production
capacity for milk in the years ahead.

The retail sector is still seeing consolidation and an
increase in scale. Large supermarket chains can therefore
increasingly put pressure on suppliers for lower prices.
Which is exacerbated by a local over-supply of meat and
eggs. The processing industry is still very fragmented.

Following the economic crisis, the European consumer
is, on the other hand, spending his money less easily
and has become more cost-conscious. Sustainability,
animal welfare and -health are important issues here.
And locally produced products are gaining in popularity.
This trend is particularly noticeable in Germany and
the UK.

As a result of the trends outlined above, farmers in
Europe are faced with strongly fluctuating feed prices
and rising production costs, which is not or barely offset
by increased revenue. A large number of farmers are not
managing to stay afloat under these circumstances and
eventually cease to operate. The dairy sector formed an
exception to this trend in the previous year.

In the UK, the influence of the retail sector on the agricultural sector is markedly greater than on the continent.
Whereas in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium,
the conditions for the livestock sector are mainly
determined by law, in the UK it is the supermarket
chains that are leading.

As a reaction to the decreasing margins, agricultural
businesses are increasing in size and becoming more
professional and they are managing to improve their
technical performance in areas such as feed efficiency
and animal health. Such larger producers increasingly
choose to do their own Home Mixing. This is the case
in the dairy sector in all countries, and in the pig sector
especially in the Netherlands and Germany. In the
layer sector, home-mixing is barely a factor and in the
broiler sector, wheat is used as supplementary feed in
all of the countries.

and stimulating the joint development of knowledge,
the organisation is able to push out frontiers in terms
of knowledge, products and tools.

The strategy of ForFarmers fits in with the above developments. ForFarmers not only supplies compound
feed, but also offers agricultural entrepreneurs a wide
range of (feed) solutions for animals and crops, all in
line with ‘the total feed business’ approach. ForFarmers
has plenty of the necessary knowledge and experience
available within the different Business Units. By sharing
this knowledge across the borders and by coordinating
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Developments per sector
Compound feed
Trends in the ruminant sector
In the last twenty years, the number of dairy farms
has more than halved in the Netherlands, Belgium,
Germany as well as in the UK. In Germany, this decline
is the strongest. At the same time, the quantity of milk
produced has remained virtually unchanged, due to
the increase in farm size. The average size of a UK dairy
farm is 127 cows, in the Netherlands the average is
83 cows and in Belgium and Germany 50, although
the regional differences in Germany are considerable.
This increase in farm size leads to a growing focus on
management, productivity, efficiency and animal health.
Because of this trend, there are also increasingly higher
demands to the management skills of the farmers.
ForFarmers supports farmers in this respect. Another
trend is the increase in automation. In the Netherlands,
currently 15% of the cows are milked by a robot. This
proportion is expected to grow to 30% of the cows
over the next five years.
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Technical results are still improving. Average milk production per cow is increasing and compound feed
consumption per kg milk is going down. This is partly
the result of improved feed utilisation, but in addition,
Home Mixing at farm level is also on the increase.
Especially in the UK, this has been the trend for some
time, especially on larger farms.
The dairy market is globalising and the influence of
price-regulating production measures at EU level is
decreasing. Since the demand for dairy products is
rising faster than the production, the dairy farming
sector is in a favourable position. This is definitely the
case in North-Western Europe. Thanks to the moderate
climate, this region has the right conditions for growing
roughage and thanks to the professional standards
of the dairy farmers, the milk produced here is of a
constant and high quality. In combination with the
well-developed infrastructure, this makes NorthWestern Europe an interesting region for the processing industry (dairy factories), which is therefore
making significant investments. The abolition of milk

quotas in 2015 provides an additional stimulus. Also
the dairy farmers are anticipating on this development.
Particularly in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium,
major investments are being made in new housing and
in the rearing of more calves.
In the Netherlands, milk production is expected to
increase by 20% until 2020. The available quantity of
roughage and the storage capacity for manure will
be the limiting factors. Improvements in the rearing,
in the life span and in feed- and minerals-efficiency
will be necessary in order to achieve a higher lifetime
production (higher production and longer life) per cow.
Although the compound feed usage per kg milk is
declining, the total compound consumption in the
dairy sector as a whole grew by 4% in 2013.
In Belgium, the increase in scale has been going on
since 2010. Milk production has increased slightly.
The beef sector, traditionally an important sector in
Belgium, remains stable. In 2013, compound feed usage
for dairy cattle grew by 7% and for beef cattle by 20%.

This increase is related to a seasonal effect from a
shortage of roughage and the late start of spring.
The dairy sector in Germany shows large regional differences. National milk production will increase in the
next few years but the growth in production is mainly
happening in the North. Production is declining in the
South and stable in the East. In 2013, compound feed
usage declined by 1%.
The increase in scale in the UK dairy sector has gathered
pace. In 1995, there were 30,000 dairy farmers with an
average of 77 cows producing 5,300 kg of milk per cow.
In 2012, there were 12,500 dairy farmers with an average
of 127 cows producing 7,500 kg of milk per cow. Due to
a combination of relatively low milk prices and poor
weather conditions, milk production in UK had fallen
sharply in the previous two years. However, milk prices
have also here risen again considerably in the last few
months of 2013, which is stimulating dairy farmers to
produce more milk. This trend is expected to continue.
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Trends in the pig sector
The production of pork in North-West Europe is stable
to slightly falling. Consumption is decreasing and the
self-sufficiency rate of the EU is currently at 110%, which
means that pressure on the meat prices remains high
and that the importance of export is growing. Particularly the high self-sufficiency rate of Germany (99% in
2007, 116% in 2012) is having a high impact here.
Animal welfare is an important issue in the pig sector.
This is apparent from European legislation on issues
such as castration, minimum floor space for finishing
pigs and group housing for sows. Other regulations
govern the emission of particulates, odours and ammonia. These measures result in pig farmers having
to cope with rising costs that are not, or barely,
compensated for by the prices realised. The impact
can especially be noted from the sharp reduction in
the number of producers, except in the UK. Between
2010 and 2015, a reduction of 45% is expected in the
Netherlands, whereas the decline in Belgium and
Germany is expected to be by 35%. Sufficient scale
is going to be required to achieve adequate levels
of profitability.
In the Netherlands, the use of antibiotics has decreased
over the last year. The health status at farm level is
therefore becoming even more crucial. This is achieved
through hygiene-related measures, but also through
innovative feed solutions. It poses a challenge to the
Nutrition Innovation Centre of ForFarmers and to its
specialists, because they are also expected to be more
knowledgeable about animal health.
In anticipation of the prohibition on castration, the proportion of finishing pigs being finished as entire boars
is increasing, although the rate differs by country. In the
Netherlands, this applies to about 70% of male finishing
pigs. In Belgium, the use of chemical castration (vaccination) is being tested. In Germany, finishing of entire
boars is done on a limited scale. In the UK, castration
was banned years ago. The benefits for pig farmers are
the better feed conversion and the higher grading they
can realise with entire boars. The result is higher returns.
Since entire boars have a feed requirement different
from castrated pigs, separate feed programmes have
been developed for boars.
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The group housing of sows - compulsory since
31 December 2012 - requires additional management
skills of pig farmers, including the implementation of
individual feed systems. The only country in which this
measure has had little impact is the UK, as around 50%
of sows are already housed outdoors, in groups.
Despite the reduction in the number of producers, the
total number of pigs in North-West Europe has barely
declined. The demand for compound feed is nevertheless decreasing. This is a result of better feed utilisation
because pig farmers are increasingly utilising straights
and by-products instead of compound feed.
The total pig population in the Netherlands has
declined again in the last year, but at a lower rate than
anticipated. Many pig farmers are unable to exit as their
debts exceed the value of their business and as they
have no alternative. It is inevitable that a relatively large
number of producers are going to exit pig production,
especially in regions that offer no scope for expansion.
Dutch pig farmers benefit from competitive costs because of their high productivity. The sector is strongly
dependent on exports, particularly to Germany. That
country has by now become more than self-sufficient,
as a result of which the price of pork there is equal to
the Netherlands. Exports to Germany therefore no
longer result in a higher price. The expectation for 2015
is that the number of sows will increase slightly, back to
the level of 2011/2012, and that the number of finishing
pigs will decrease to 5.5 million. Compound feed usage
declined by 4% in 2013.
Germany has in the last five years become the largest
exporter of pork in the EU. Of all the pork exported
in Europe, 28% originates from Germany. The high
production rate relies heavily on the import of piglets
and finishing pigs. The finishing pig population is
still growing by 3% per year, but this is offset by a 3%
reduction in the number of sows.
Due to the high level of self-sufficiency, prices are also
under pressure and they have become similar now to
the Netherlands. There are major regional differences
in Germany, both in terms of farm size and of market
outlook. In Northern and Eastern Germany - where
ForFarmers is active - the market is growing, whereas
it is declining in the South. The use of compound feed
has, after years of growth, fallen in 2013 by 2%.

The Belgian pig sector is strongly focussed on the Belgian
Pietrain, a breed with a high meat yield. It provides
high-quality meat that is popular both in the home
market and in Germany. This appears to be a stable
market segment in the international meat market. The
pig population has recovered in the last few years and
is expected to stabilise at the current level. Compound
feed use grew by 1% in 2013.
The pig meat sector in the UK is strongly dependent on
imports with self-sufficiency at around 65%. The UK is
an important export market especially for the Netherlands and Denmark. A large proportion of pig meat
produced in the UK aims to meet specific market requirements. This results in a higher cost. The pig sector in
the UK is further characterised by specific requirements
from the retail sector. Campaigns such as ‘Buy British’
lead to a higher demand for locally produced pork,
against a higher price. The size of the UK pig population
has grown again in 2013.
Trends in the poultry sector
The increase in scale is also seen in the poultry sector.
Since 1990, the number of poultry farms in North-West
Europe has virtually halved, whereas the average business size has increased considerably. The sharpest
increase occurred in Germany.
Layer sector
The conversion from caged to free-range production
systems in the period from 2010 to 2013 has had an
impact on the balance between the supply and demand
for eggs over recent years. Initially, egg production dropped sharply during the conversion, leading to high egg
prices. Particularly in Germany, this encouraged the
construction of additional barns, as a result of which
the sector now has to cope with an overproduction
of eggs. The sector relies on sales to EU countries, since
the eggs are too expensive for the global market. The
combination of high investment costs, high feed prices
and low egg prices has led to a bad financial situation
for egg producers in 2013. Efficiency of production is
therefore vital for the sector. Despite the unfavourable
prices, egg production is currently not or is barely
declining.

The move towards a more sustainable way of farming
means that the layer is changing genetically. The aim is
a layer with a longer laying period. This development
results in different requirements for feed and management and additional attention to animal welfare and
the quality of bedding.
Also in the layer sector, there is an increase in home
mixing, but this is relatively limited. Compound feed is
still the regular feed product.
After 2010, which was a peak year with 35 million layers,
the layer population in the Netherlands went down to
31.5 million animals in 2013. This figure is expected to
stabilise in the coming years at around 30 million. The
number of producers will continue to decline. Export of
eggs to Germany is increasingly for use by the processing industry, since the German consumer prefers shell
eggs produced in Germany. Market figures shows that
compound feed use in 2013 went up and down. After
an initial growth of 6% in the first quarter, it declined
by 4% in the second quarter. Over the whole of 2013,
the compound feed use was stable.
The Belgian layer market is fairly stable, with around
11.2 million hens. The number of producers (with over
1,000 hens) is declining slightly. Use of compound feed
has increased marginally during 2013.
The number of layers in Germany rose from 30 million
in 2010 to 36 million in 2012 and is stabilising now. A
slight increase is still expected in the production per
hen. As a result, self-sufficiency in Germany can grow
from 70% to almost 80% over the next five years. Since
the Netherlands supplies 75% of German imports, this
will have quite some impact on the Dutch layer sector.
Use of compound feed declined by 3% in 2013. German
consumers prefer eggs produced locally from hens fed
on non-GMO feed. This results in specific requirements
for raw materials, formulas and manufacturing.
The UK has a strong layers sector. Egg production will
see annual growth of 5% in the next few years.
BOCM PAULS focuses on farmers that do not take part
in an integration, such as farmers with free-range hens,
which account for 50% of British egg production.
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Broiler sector
The broiler sector in North-West Europe mainly produces
fresh meat for regional consumption. Poultry meat
consumption is level, even increasing slightly in
Germany, but it is under heavy pressure from the
economic situation and the price strategy of the supermarkets. Following the lifting of trade barriers, the import of poultry is growing rapidly, putting meat prices
under constant pressure. At the same time, the sector
must comply with increasingly stringent EU legislation
on animal health.
As far as antibiotics use is concerned, the required
reduction by 50% against the rate in 2009 has been
realised. Especially in the Netherlands, there has been
significant progress.
Under these circumstances, broiler farmers are faced
with rising costs and increasing competition. Focus
on animal health results in higher demands on their
professional expertise. These developments are driving
the increase in scale. Smaller producers are disappearing
at an increasing rate. The total feed market for broilers is
stable; only Germany is seeing slight growth. However,
compound feed is being increasingly replaced by wheat.
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The number of broilers in the Netherlands is stable,
whereas the number of producers continues to decline.
Given the high self-sufficiency rate (> 200%), the Dutch
broiler sector heavily relies on exports, particularly
to Germany, the UK and France. So far, the sector has
managed to offset rising production costs by improving technical results. This benefit is nevertheless being
gradually eroded by stricter welfare requirements and
legislation. The use of compound feed dropped sharply
in 2013 due to an increasing use of wheat and lower
numbers of animals. The latter was caused by lower
meat prices. It is expected that the use of compound
feed in 2014 will be restored to the 2012 level.
Also in Belgium, the number of animals has remained
stable, with a decreasing number of producers. The
use of compound feed grew by 2% in 2013, partly due
to French broiler farms using feed from Belgium.
Broiler production in Germany has expanded considerably over the last few years. Since 2010, the selfsufficiency rate has exceeded 120%. Compared with
other countries, consumption is relatively low at 11 kg
per head of population, but there are still opportunities
for growth here. A relatively large amount of turkey

is eaten in Germany (7 kg per head of population).
The country exports mainly to Russia. Germany is
losing some of its competitive edge due to rising
labour costs and more stringent welfare legislation.
The use of compound feed grew by 2% over 2013.
The UK has strong broiler and turkey sectors which
are largely integrated. BOCM PAULS tends to focus on
the retail markets such as the traditional turkey sector,
which rears for the Christmas market.

ForFarmers’ position in the sectors in perspective
of the market trends
As a result of increases in scale and stricter legislation
on for example welfare, the environment and antibiotics use, farmers have a growing need for specialist
knowledge and advice. ForFarmers caters for this in
various ways, with products and concepts that have
a positive influence on animal health and life expectancy. In addition ForFarmers provides services, such
as the Agroscoop programme which producers can
use to monitor and improve their results. Education
and training of employees guarantee the level
of advice and support that is given to customers.
The number of producers replacing compound feed
with single raw materials and by-products is growing.
ForFarmers anticipates this trend by offering a full
product range of feed (compound feed, concentrates,
supplements, single feed and by-products), to ensure
that the best possible feed solution can be provided,
regardless of the feeding system.
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Arable sector
Trends in the arable sector
The amount of land available in the Netherlands for
arable farming and growing roughage is declining.
Considering the good economic prospects for dairy,
the demand for roughage will increase in the next few
years. This means that competition with the land used
for arable farming will increase. The solution lies in
increasing crop yields by applying new, high-yield grass
and maize varieties and new forms of fertilisers and
crop protection, and by using additives for roughage.
The sound economic prospects for arable and roughage crops will lead to higher levels of investment here.
The launch of the ‘Annual Nutrient Cycling Assessment’
(KringloopWijzer) in the Netherlands ensures a much
more precise evaluation of the minerals utilisation at farm
level. The overall use of fertilisers will increase as a result,
but they can be utilised more effectively and precisely.
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The use of grass seed and fertilisers in the Netherlands
has increased over the last few years but will stabilise
after 2014. The usage of sowing seed for maize, green
manure and cereals is at a more or less stable level.
The usage of silage inoculants is structurally increasing,
partly under the impact of seasonal variations (such as
the wet spring in 2013).
Stricter legislation reduces the options for crop protection,
which leads to greater harvest risks and lower crop yields.
The consolidation of suppliers and producers of crop
protection products is going rapidly, increasing the
market power of the remaining players.

ForFarmers in the arable sector
As a result of the developments described, the market
demands more specialist knowledge of the application
of crop protection products, fertilisers, seeds and the
associated growing.
Thanks to the company’s growth, ForFarmers is fully
equipped to meet this demand. ForFarmers is active in
the arable sector in the Netherlands, Belgium and parts
of the UK.
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Organic compound feed
In the first six months of 2013, the turnover of organic
products through supermarkets and organic retailers
in the Netherlands rose by 12%, reaching € 1 billion
on an annual basis. Growth was also seen in Germany,
the main export market.
Trends in the organic ruminant sector
In the Netherlands, the number of organic dairy cows
increased by 3%. This was mainly due to an increase
in the number of cows per farm. There are virtually no
new entrants, due to the relatively small price difference
between regular and organic milk. The difference in cost
can therefore not be recovered. In the German market,
we see a similar picture. Because the organic dairy farms
are required to grow a certain percentage of their fodder
on-farm, it is becoming increasingly important to
further optimise roughage production and milk yields
as dairy cow numbers grow. There is scope for limited
growth in the organic market in the Netherlands as well
as in Germany.
Trends in the organic pig sector
Sales of organic pork slowed down, leading to lower
prices. In the second half of 2013, supply and demand
were more in balance as some producers exited the
market.
Trends in the organic poultry sector
In the last few years, the organic layer sector has increased rapidly both in the Netherlands and in Germany.
Supply grew faster than demand and self-sufficiency in
Germany, the main export market for Dutch eggs, has
grown significantly. In 2013, the number of laying hens
still slightly rose in Germany. Due to declining sales to
Germany and the resulting lower price of eggs, the
number of organic layer farms in the Netherlands
fell in 2013.
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ForFarmers in the organic market
Per 2 March 2013, the organic activities of ForFarmers
and Reudink biologische voeders B.V. were merged into
Reudink B.V.
Reudink is a specialist organic compound feed company,
holding certificates relevant to the organic feed market
such as GMP, SKAL, Bioland, Naturland and EKO.
Reudink produces and supplies feed for the organic
ruminant, pig and poultry sectors in the Netherlands,
Germany and Belgium. Nearly 60% of sales consist of
layers feed, of which around 75% is for the German
market. The other 40% of sales consists of ruminant
and pig feed.
In mid-2013, the former ForFarmers Hendrix factory
located at Kwinkweerd 5 in Lochem was put into use
as a specialist production site for organic compound
feed. The factory offers ample opportunities for further
growth and for product development. This is how
Reudink can respond to the still increasing demand
for organic food.
After the production site in Lochem was put into
use, organic production activities at the sites in Wesel
(Germany) and Harreveld (the Netherlands) were
discontinued by July and August.

Roughage, high-moisture feed and single feed
The supply of high-moisture feed, partly coming from
the food industry and partly from the production of
biofuels, is stabilising in North-West Europe. The demand
for single raw materials is growing in all sectors and
regions following an increase in scale and the associated
increase in Home Mixing.
ForFarmers in the market of roughage,
high-moisture feed and single feed
In the Netherlands, Belgium and the North and West
of Germany, ForFarmers remains active in this market
under the name FarmFeed Hedimix. In Eastern
Germany, these activities come under Hendrix Illesch
and in the UK under Feeds Marketing. Mutual collaboration and the sharing of knowledge lead to synergy
benefits and more efficiency.
FarmFeed Hedimix focuses on the purchase and
sale of high-moisture feed, roughage, single feed and
bedding material for livestock farms, thus contributing
towards the profitability of its customers. In addition
to supplying products to regular farmers, FarmFeed
Hedimix also serves organic livestock farmers. This
has advantages, on account of the larger volumes and
broader product range. FarmFeed Hedimix has extensive storage facilities for liquid products at several easily
accessible locations, some of which can be reached by
ship. In addition, it has a mixing site in Lochem, where
various liquid flows are mixed into feed with a consistent
composition for pig farmers.
FarmFeed Hedimix has maintained its sales level
during 2013.

These developments have had a positive effect on the
continued growth of Feeds Marketing, that deals with
the procurement of high-moisture feed.
Feeds Marketing supplies products directly to farmers,
processes them into feed mixes (under the brand name
Leafield Feeds) and into products suitable for the biofuel
industry via Feeds Marketing BioEnergy. Direct sales of
single raw materials have also increased.
In 2013, the market share of Feeds Marketing grew
by 8.5%.
Hendrix Illesch supplies raw materials, premixes,
minerals, concentrates and special by-products to
pig farmers and to dairy farmers. The supply of highmoisture feed was under serious pressure in 2013,
because of the usage of these products for biofuel
and also due to competition from other regions.
The percentages mentioned in this chapter ‘Developments
per sector’ come from sources such as Nevedi and DVT.

Feeds Marketing
In the UK, distilleries and the bioethanol industry are
continuing to increase their production levels, whereas
breweries have a decreasing output. This is reflected
in the supply of high-moisture feed. Production in
the food industry is stable, but the re-use of residual
products for the production of feed or biofuel is being
stimulated.
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The total feed business
As an international business, ForFarmers is seeing developments in different countries. One trend is growing
in popularity everywhere: the so-called Home Mixing.
It means that livestock farmers buy single feed which
they mix into a complete ration. Larger farms more and
more often install their own feed facility and want the
flexibility to respond adequately to the quickly changing
prices of raw materials.
Given these developments, ForFarmers does not only
want to be strong in compound feed, but also in other
feed products. Optimal service to the customer is the
key. Through the merger of ForFarmers, Hendrix and
BOCM PAULS, the organisation is increasingly able to
cater for these requirements and to supply all feed products in an efficient way. The acquisitions have not only
led to an in-house broadening of the knowledge, skills
and innovation potential, but have also helped to grow
the - international - knowledge network of the organisation.
Customers receive the best feed solution, appropriate
for their feed system and to the products they use.
In order to make this clear, there is since this year the
slogan ‘the total feed business’ underneath the logo
of ForFarmers B.V.

48

Annual report 2013 - ForFarmers B.V.

49

Innovation
In order to keep offering customers innovative and
unique feed solutions – and also in line with ’the total
feed business’ - ForFarmers is investing in relevant
research and development. The objective is to support
the livestock farmer in achieving his business objectives
and to make a contribution towards economically
profitable and sustainable food production. ForFarmers
aims to be a front runner in the fields of innovation and
sustainability. Thanks to the company’s growth, the
costs of research and development (approximately
€ 6 million per year) can be divided over more tonnes
of feed. This opens up new perspectives for the research programme.
Knowledge and innovation are of vital importance to
livestock farmers in North-West Europe. Since land and
labour are relatively expensive in this part of the world,
livestock farmers must produce more efficiently than in
other countries in order to compete on a global level.
ForFarmers supplies innovative and distinguishing
products with an optimal price-quality ratio and also
the associated knowledge. By continually improving,
we help farmers to continue producing at a profit and
to achieve their company objectives.
The Nutritional Innovation Centre (NIC) of
ForFarmers coordinates feed innovations within
ForFarmers. The NIC performs its own research and
collaborates with research institutes such as Schothorst
Feed Research (the Netherlands), ILVO (Belgium), Haus
Riswick and Haus Düsse (Germany) and with leading
universities in the Netherlands, Belgium, Germany,
the UK and Austria, among others. ForFarmers has
a strategic partnership with Nutreco in the field of
research and knowledge sharing. Through so-called
co-innovation and co-creation with several international
companies, ForFarmers develops new products in a
fast and efficient manner.
Although questions and comments from customers
may trigger new research, the real task for ForFarmers
is to pre-empt these questions by anticipating trends
and developments on the market and in society. For
example, the growing demand for non-GMO feed in
Germany. To this end, ForFarmers takes part in impor-

50

tant consultative structures and cross-sector working
parties, is discussion partner of government and sector
associations and maintains contacts with non-governmental organisations (NGO’s).
Healthy animals and a reduction in antibiotics use were
in 2013 the dominant issues for our customers and
those issues were therefore leading in the innovation
and development of feed. In addition, striking the
right balance between feed costs and feed quality
remains top priority. The NIC has the mission to feed
animals optimally at the lowest possible cost.
Animals need a certain amount of nutrients to be
healthy, to grow optimally or to produce milk, meat
or eggs in the optimal way. The need for nutrients
depends, among other factors, on the genetic potential of the breed and the type of housing used. For
example, outdoor production systems require feed
with a higher energy component. The NIC takes all
these factors into account when developing feed.
For the NIC, it is not relevant in what form ForFarmers
companies bring the nutrients to the animal. In line
with ‘the total feed business’ approach, this can be
through complete compound feed, through supplementary products or mineral mixtures.
The NIC of ForFarmers is an international department.
The international collaboration results in more knowledge and a greater innovation power. In order to
work effectively in the countries where ForFarmers is
active, the NIC has changed its operating structure.
Per sector, there is a nutritional team with nutritionists
and innovation managers. Each nutritional team is
responsible for short-term and long-term innovations,
for the feed products on the market and for providing
support to account managers and specialists. The nutritionists are responsible for the technical performance of
these products. They are in daily contact with customers
and/or specialists and that way, they keep in touch with
day-to-day practice. The innovation managers are, in
their own area, responsible for innovations, research
and development, and the dissemination of knowledge
through all the countries where ForFarmers is active.

‘The total feed business’: how it works
Innovation and research must eventually lead to distinguishing feed solutions which ForFarmers can use
to make a difference on the farm. In line with ‘the total
feed business’ approach, these feed solutions include
not only compound feed but also high-moisture
feed, single feed, blends, concentrates and minerals.
In addition, ForFarmers has specialist products such as
feed for young animals (for example, Alpha piglet feed
and Vita rearing feed for calves), for the periods when
animals are pregnant (such as transition feed for cows
and sows) and feed that gives, in combination with
advice and management, better intestinal health for
broilers (Forza FeetFit).
Concepts and products launched during 2013 include
the following:
Ruminant
• Feed2Milk, an in-house developed, new feed approach
for dairy cattle. The system is nutrient-based and
takes into account the decomposability of the
required raw materials in the rumen in order to feed
the animal in the most optimal way.
The ForFarmers companies in the Netherlands,
Belgium and Germany launched Feed2Milk in 2013;
BOCM PAULS will introduce the concept in 2014.
• VitaMilk, the new range of milk substitutes for the
young cattle of Dutch and Belgian customers. At the
same time, a new milk feed schedule was introduced
that can achieve more growth for young animals as
well as a higher milk production from the moment
of lactation.
• An innovation in the UK was Visiolac, a diagnostic
tool for tracking what happens nutritionally with the
ration in the stomach and rumen of the cow. It makes
visible the main factors in the conversion of feed to
milk.
Pig
• In April 2013 a new range of feed products for finishing
pigs, piglets and sows was launched in the Netherlands, Germany and Belgium. This range is based on
a unique feed evaluation system which gives better
technical and economic performance on the farm.

• The number of participants in the ‘Piglet vitality check‘
scheme has further increased in 2013. The check has
been expanded with information about the importance of good piglet vitality and on how the farmer
can improve this. As a further addition, in autumn 2013
ForFarmers introduced the ‘Biest-Score®' (Colostrum
Score). This measuring tool shows the amount of
antibodies the piglet receives via the mother milk and
therefore offers guidance for improving the colostrum
management. By now, over a hundred farmers in
the Netherlands are using this service and are thus
helping to expand the database.
• In Germany, Belgrain was introduced as a feed strategy
against salmonella in finishing pigs. The specific production process of Belgrain improves the intestinal
flora, reducing the risk of a salmonella infection.
This immediately leads to a better pig price for
our German customers.
Poultry
• In April 2013, the new poultry range of ForFarmers
Hendrix was successfully launched in the Dutch and
Belgian markets. The German market followed in
October. The development of the new range focused
on the structure of the feed. Scientific research shows
that specific sources of fibre are beneficial to intestinal
health and to the overall resistance of poultry. The
Vitakrek production process, which guarantees feed
with a constant structure, has in 2013 also been introduced at the sites in Ingelmunster (Belgium), Langförden
(Germany) and at Reudink Lochem (the Netherlands).
This means that all meal feed for layers is now being
produced through the Vitakrek production process
(except for the UK).
• The Forza FeetFit concept, for the improvement of
intestinal health and the bedding quality for broilers,
was further developed in 2013. The feed under this
concept are showing good results.
• The range of turkey feed has been extended with
feed that improve intestinal health and the quality
of the foot pads.
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Horses
• In the second half of 2013, Pavo launched the product
SpeediBeet. SpeediBeet is made from sugar beet pulp
with no added molasses, a single raw ingredient.
What is special about SpeediBeet is that the flakes
have been micronised, a patented process that
reduces the soaking time from twelve hours to
as little as ten minutes.
Organic feed
• Reudink introduced a new product range for all sectors,
with comparable features and the same classification
into ranges as ForFarmers ranges for regular livestock
farming.
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Other Business Units
HaBeMa
ForFarmers has a 50% interest in HaBeMa in Hamburg.
HaBeMa has a large site at the sea port of Hamburg
with a railway connection, close to motorway routes
and is therefore in a favourable logistical position for
the import and export of commodities.

Belgium, as well as all deliveries of finished products
that are not taken care of by ForFarmers fleet.
By combining the logistic flows of ForFarmers’ livestock
feed and raw materials with those of partners from the
FF Logistics network, a reduction is achieved in CO2
emissions and in logistical costs.

In addition to producing compound feed for among
others ForFarmers, HaBeMa handles the storage and
transshipment of around two million tonnes of raw
materials per year. The storage capacity of the facility
built in Heidenau (near the Czech border) in 2012,
for the storage and transshipment of grain and soya,
was enlarged by 30,000 tonnes in 2013. The total
warehousing and transshipment capacity at Heidenau
now amounts to 90,000 tonnes. The quantity of soya
and grain handled has as a result increased significantly.
It was therefore necessary, after the new harvest, to put
a second train in operation and to extend the working
hours. This facility is used to transport grain, destined
for export, from Eastern Europe to Hamburg by train.
From the port of Hamburg, soya is shipped
to Heidenau for destinations in Eastern Europe (Czech
Republic). Optimal use is therefore made of the transport capacity, which is in line with ForFarmers’ sustainability policy and beneficial for the returns.

Pavo
The main brand of ForFarmers in the horse market is
Pavo. As the European market leader in horse feed and
active in around twenty countries, Pavo contributes to
the health of horses through its feed products. Pavo
monitors developments in the market and in science,
and translates these into innovative feeding concepts
and top-quality products.
Pavo managed to get the attention of the large group
of private horse keepers through innovative products
and innovative communication methods, including
social media.

Both the compound feed production and the transshipment activities had a moderate first half of the
year, but they improved in the second half of 2013.

The total turnover of horse feed is under pressure in
virtually the whole of Europe. The market consists of
a limited number of large horse businesses and a
huge number of small-scale, private horse owners.
Despite the shrinking market, Pavo’s turnover in the
Netherlands and Germany remained at a steady level
in 2013. The growth areas for Pavo are export countries,
such as Scandinavia, Eastern Europe (including Russia),
Spain and Portugal.

FF Logistics
FF Logistics handles the transport of liquid products
for FarmFeed Hedimix and the supply of raw materials
to ForFarmers’ production sites in the Netherlands and
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Employees
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The way we work
ForFarmers aims to be an open and informal organisation, where colleagues can work
together pleasantly and efficiently, with as common goal to be the best in the animal
feed industry. In that context our vision, mission and strategy were re-formulated at
the start of 2013. In addition, we want to be a valued employer, an employer of choice.
This is appropriate for a leading international company. Good employment practice
include an appropriate package of employment terms and proper attention for the
employee.
An important condition to attract the right people,
and to keep them in the organisation, is to provide
a challenging, international work environment with
sufficient scope for development. In order to achieve
this, the department has developed a new HR annual
cycle and appraisal system. It is being used since the
start of 2014. The system is a means to give substance
to what it means to be a professional employer. With a
strong focus on further development of the employees,
the HR annual cycle will provide more opportunities
than before. It will become clear where extra attention
is needed to support and develop employees in order
to further develop their knowledge and skills. For example,
through developing talents in specific target groups.
But it will also provide insight into the total workforce
concerning succession planning or a policy on ageawareness. The latter is very important in view of the
working life being extended from 65 to 67.
In addition to developing the new HR annual cycle, the
HRM department worked on reorganising the employee
database for the new organisation in 2013. Assigning
job titles and the arrangement into teams (who reports
to which supervisor) also received much attention in 2013.
From 1 January 2014, a new pension plan has been
concluded for the Netherlands. In addition, much attention went to the integration of the terms of employment of the former ForFarmers and Hendrix companies
in the Netherlands. We live in a changing world where
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the social security system is being cut down on.
ForFarmers is seeking for the most optimal and realistic
solution for its employees.
Due to the integration, 2013 also saw the second round
of the social plan. The necessary workforce reduction
was realised with fewer than 25 compulsory redundancies.
In the event of redundancy, the social plan comes into
force. In all situations, an effort was made to make agreements in a careful way and with respect for each other.
Via an external outplacement agency, employees made
redundant receive long-term personal support to find
a new work environment.
Route 16: ‘the way we work’
The HRM department is organised centrally across the
different countries. This is how ForFarmers can ensure
a uniform vision and policy on HRM within the organisation. After the integration of ForFarmers, Hendrix
and BOCM PAULS, it is important to establish with each
other where the organisation wants to go. In order to
become one company, working from the same set of
principles, Route 16 was launched as an important part
of the integration. Route 16 represents the objectives
that the organisation is to reach by 2016, it stands for
'the way we work'. But the name itself also indicates
that the organisation is giving itself time to achieve
those objectives. Each team in the organisation will
develop its own Route 16.

In order to strengthen the core values of ambition,
sustainability and profitability, certain supplementary
values have been determined. This way, it becomes
clear how employees can make a contribution here.
‘Ambition’ stands for leadership, team work and development of people. ‘Sustainability’ includes innovation,
corporate social responsibility and reliability. And ‘profitability’ is measured in terms of operational excellence,
a focus on results and entrepreneurship. These are
concrete themes that can be used for target setting
in annual appraisals and for leaders to focus on. This is
how Route 16 and the core values become real to our
employees and also become part of their own work.
Health, safety and quality
The department for Health, Safety and Quality (HSQ)
guards the safety of employees and of the ForFarmers
products. By establishing norms, procedures and rules
and by carrying out annual audits, the risk of incidents,
accidents and damage is reduced to a minimum. for
the company itself, for employees, for customers and
for companies in the food chain. HSQ employees perform the role of process monitors. They check whether
all sites follow the established procedures and adjust
the procedures when there is any reason to do so,
following changes in national or international legislation,
chain requirements or internal policy.
In 2013, HSQ was for example involved in the design
of the offices, the procurement of new office furniture,
and the set-up and distribution among employees
of instructions concerning work with the computer
screen. The necessary risk surveys, risk evaluations and
safety audits were conducted at the production sites.
For example, workers’ exposure to dust and hazardous
substances was measured and recommendations were
made accordingly.

Employee representation
Employee representation is organised at country level.
In 2013, we have been working towards one well-organised and properly trained works council for the new
organisation in the Netherlands. The new works council
has been active since 1 July 2013. Many different issues
have been raised at the works council within a short
period of time. For example, permission was sought
for the implementation of the HR annual cycle, for the
introduction of a job appraisal system and for a change
in the number of shifts per site. Furthermore, advice
was sought regarding the reallocation of production
and the consequences this was going to have for the
staff, regarding different legal mergers and the appointment of the statutory director. The members of the
works council have shown maximum dedication and
flexibility, without compromising the critical role that
the works council should have.
Also in the other countries, we evaluated whether the
current employee representation is still adequate for
the organisation.

Number of employees by country
Converted to fulltime-equivalent per end of year*

The Netherlands
Germany
Belgium
UK
Other EU
Total

2013

2012

828
321
78
984
3

852
325
73
941
3

2,214

2,194

* Excluding the dealer organisation and external transport

The department coordinates the company’s internal
emergency teams at the sites. Preparations are being
made with HRM about conducting a preventive medical
survey among employees.
HSQ’s sphere of activity includes all of ForFarmers companies. It is determined, after consultation, what can
be organised centrally and what has to be done locally,
on account of different laws, regulations or supply
chain requirements. This ensures a uniform and efficient way of managing health, safety and quality.
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Financial results
General
The 2013 financial year shows, given the economic
developments in the various agricultural sectors, a
satisfactory result for ForFarmers, if identifiable items
with a significant negative impact are excluded. The
net result went down, against the 2012 pro forma figures,
from € 39.2 million to € 31.1 million. This decrease is
among others caused by an extra addition of € 9 million
(before taxes) needed for the provision for bad debts.
Despite the decrease in net result, the dividend per
certificate has been increased from € 0.115 to € 0.136,
by increasing the payout ratio.
Integration
After the 2012 financial year, in which the acquisition
of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS took place as well as the
sale of Cefetra and Probroed, 2013 had the focus on the
further integration of the two acquisitions. The synergy
benefits of the Hendrix integration already seen in 2012
were further developed in 2013. The optimization of
production and logistics processes led to a decrease
of the operational expenses. Part of the Hendrix integration was the merger of different legal entities in the
Netherlands and Germany, which simplified the further
integration of processes. All the ForFarmers companies
now operate on one ERP-platform (SAP). This required
considerable efforts of the organisation, especially in
the first half of the year.
At BOCM PAULS, substantial synergy benefits were
realised. The organisational cooperation will in the
future lead to better results and also improve the
market position of both parties. All internationally
operating staff departments have been fully integrated.
The realisation of further synergy benefits will remain
high on the agenda in 2014.

Results 2013 against the 2012 pro forma results*
In the 2013 financial year, ForFarmers achieved a turnover
of € 2,625 million. Compared to the pro forma figures
for 2012, turnover is up by € 61 million (or 2.4%).
The gross profit is, compared to pro forma 2012, down
by € 13.4 million (at constant exchange rates for the
British Pound: € 7.5 million). This is explained by a drop
in volumes, especially in the Netherlands, and margin
pressure in especially Germany and Belgium. Additionally,
the 2012 result contained an extraordinary positive
purchasing result. Gross profit in the UK developed
very positively in local currency, through both the
volume effect and through commercial activities.
The operating expenses over 2013 were fractionally
higher than 2012 pro forma and amounted to
€ 351.5 million. At constant exchange rate, there is
an increase by € 5.6 million. The operating expenses
of 2013 are negatively impacted by incidental and
temporarily higher costs. The personnel expenses for
example include one-off expenses related to the
reduction in staff numbers.
The depreciation went up because of a one-off cost
(€ 2.1 million) related to the impairment of real estate
which is not utilised for operations.
The other operating expenses are impacted by a temporary rise in transport costs following the implementation of the new production master plan. Additionally,
there were one-off expenses such as an extra addition
to the provisions for bad debts (€ 9 million) due to a
deteriorating situation with two major customers. If
cost items that were temporarily higher or incidental
are not taken into account, it turns out that the total
expenses are lower.

* Based on 2012 pro forma figures, excluding Cefetra and including Hendrix and BOCM PAULS as from 1 January 2012.
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Results 2013 against the 2012 results
Turnover 2013 decreased against 2012 from € 6,617 million
to € 2,625 million. This change is mainly the result of the
sale of the Cefetra activities (end 2012), which were still
fully included in the result of the 2012 financial year.
The turnover of Cefetra in 2012 was € 4.6 billion.
The result 2013 against 2012 is further affected by the
acquisitions and divestments in 2012. In the year 2012,
the acquisitions of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS are included
as from the moment of acquisition (respectively
1 April 2012 and 1 July 2012)
The net result in 2013 is positively impacted by a oneoff gain of net € 1.6 million from the sale of the minority
interest in Agrovision B.V.
The return on the core activities was 10.9% of the
normalised equity, assuming a solvency of 35%. In 2012,
this return was 20.6%, excluding the book profits realised that year on the sale of participations (€ 15.5 million).
The decrease is explained by the higher balance sheet
total in 2012 as a result of the acquisitions and the lower
results in 2013.
Investments
ForFarmers’ production facilities have the necessary
capacity to meet market demand. In 2013, the company
invested € 29.1 million (2012: € 23.4 million), a figure
which is higher than the level of depreciation. It concerns IT investments for the integration of ForFarmers
and Hendrix, investments towards the regular replacement of production and transport equipment and for
bringing the factories in line with the requirements of
the production master plan. Most of the investments in
the 2014 financial year will be for regular replacement
of production and transport equipment. ForFarmers
has the ambition with these replacements to keep its
production and logistical processes as optimal as possible.

Employees
Per end of 2013, ForFarmers had 2,214 employees
(converted to fulltime-equivalent) against 2,194
employees per end of 2012. During the years 2012
and 2013, the number of employees in the Netherlands
went down, so that the average number of Dutch employees in 2013 is lower than the 2012 pro forma figure.
The increase of the number of employees in the UK
(plus 43 FTE’s) is mainly due to the increased activities
at BOCM PAULS.
Cash flow and financing
Cash flow from operating activities is € 55.4 million
(2012: € 48.2 million). The decrease of the working
capital is what explains the increase versus 2012. The
total amount of cash and cash equivalents increased
by € 66.3 million, among others because of the receipts
from the sales transactions of Cefetra, Probroed and
Agrovision (€ 77.5 million)
The group’s financing arrangements did not change
in 2013. ForFarmers complied with the bank covenants.
No refinancing is planned in the current year.
The company’s solvency rose from 40.1% in 2012 to
44.2% in 2013. The healthy balance sheet and liquidity
position of ForFarmers enable the company to realise
the ambitions of ‘Route 16’ in a responsible manner.
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Developments by country
Key figures by country
The geographic distribution of the turnover is as follows:
Turnover (in € x 1 million)

The Netherlands

2013

2012 (1)

∆%

1,053

1,048

0.5

Germany

577

587

-1.7

Belgium

237

245

-3.4

UK (2)

727

656

10.8

31

28

10.7

2,625

2,564

2.4

Other countries
Total

(1) Based on the pro forma 2012 figures; these figures include the result over the full year, as if the transactions (acquisition of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS
and sale of Cefetra and Probroed) had been effectuated on 1 January 2012.
(2) The sales 2013 in the UK at constant exchange rate is € 775 million.

The Netherlands
The turnover 2013 increased fractionally against pro
forma 2012, in spite of a fractionally lower compound
feed volume. The turnover in (high-moisture) byproducts also increased in 2013. The development in
volume is impacted by a decrease in the pig and poultry
sectors. In the pig sector, we see a decrease in the
Dutch pig population. In the broiler sector, the usage
of compound feed went down in 2013 because of an
increased usage of wheat and a decrease in the average
number of animals held. In the ruminant sector, the
volume did grow.
The gross profit on the activities in the Netherlands
decreased in 2013. Main reason for this decrease is the
lower volume of compound feed in the sectors pig and
poultry.
Germany
In Germany, turnover decreased by €10 million with
also a slight decrease in the volume of compound
feed. This is caused by a lower volume sold in the pig
sector, partly compensated by a volume increase in the
dairy sector. The volume decrease in the pig sector is
because stables are temporarily left empty in response
to the low profitability.
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In 2013, the gross profit declined because of the volume
effect, and also because of the volatility in commodity
prices.
Belgium
Turnover in 2013 decreased and ended at € 237 million,
against € 245 million in 2012. This decrease is explained
mainly by the developments in the commodity market.
The volume of compound feed in Belgium increased
slightly, especially from commercial activities in the
ruminant and pig sectors.
The gross margin decreased fractionally against 2012.
The increase from the volume growth was largely
annulled by the margin.
The UK
In the UK, the demand for compound feed was high
in 2013, especially in the ruminant and pig sectors. This
also resulted in a higher turnover. The volume increase
comes among others from commercial activities and
a long cold winter in the first months of 2013. The
volume increase in the pig sector is explained by a
growth in the pig population in 2013. Campaigns like
‘Buy British’ are driving an increase in the demand for
locally produced pork.

The gross margin in local currency went up, because
of a higher sales volume and also because of a higher
gross margin.
Dividend proposal
The proposal is to distribute as dividend 50% of the
result after tax, adjusted for extraordinary results (such
as book profits, and taking into account tax). This corresponds to an amount of € 14.4 million. The proposal
is therefore to distribute € 0.136 per share (2012: € 0.115).
Future
ForFarmers aims to remain an attractive partner for
agricultural businesses by making a maximum contribution to the returns on their business. The focus is:
feed to farm, operational excellence and reliability for
the customers. The feed and arable solutions enable
customers to produce quality products such as milk,
meat, eggs and cereals. ForFarmers is an essential link
in the feed to food chain, standing for more production
versus lower input.
Further growth is crucial to realise our ambition.
ForFarmers also focuses on acquisitions, as this will
make a positive contribution towards realising the
objectives set out in ‘Route 16; the way we work’. This
is an overall approach that sets out the route towards
the objectives for 2016, and the way we want to
achieve them.
The returns of our customers are under pressure. Only
the ruminant sector overall and the pig sector in the
UK are in a better position. We expect for 2014 the raw
material prices to continue fluctuating which will have
an impact on the profitability of our customers and of
ForFarmers.
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Corporate governance & compliance
Risk management and internal control
In 2013, ForFarmers continued with the implementation
of its integral risk management programme. Under this
programme, risks are identified and quantified and
control measures are established. This leads to the use
of for example financial instruments and commodity
contracts, internal guidelines, quality systems, audits,
reporting and monitoring systems and insurance. The
control measures aim to reduce the chance of a risk
occurring and the potential consequences to an acceptable level and to safeguard the company’s continuity.
In 2013, ForFarmers particularly focused on the risks
associated with procurement. Due to the increased size
of the company and the high volatility of commodity
prices, procurement risks have increased.
Under the integral risk management, all risks are monitored per individual Business Unit, with a central coordination and guarding of any risks identified. ForFarmers’
integral risk management is aimed at obtaining certainty concerning the achievement of objectives
in the field of:
• continuity of service delivery;
• reliability of the financial information provided;
• compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
policy guidelines and procedures;
• safeguarding of assets and other property.
The systems for risk management and internal control
are aimed at supporting the achievement of strategic
and financial objectives in the optimal way. An adequately designed system of risk management and internal
control does not guarantee that strategic and financial
objectives are in fact realised. Nor can it guarantee that
human error, unforeseen circumstances, inaccurate
reporting, fraud and failure to comply with laws and
regulations can be completely ruled out.
The risk management and internal control systems of
ForFarmers are geared in particular towards controlling
the following:
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• price development and availability of raw materials;
• currency and interest risks;
• credit and liquidity risks of contract partners;
• liquidity risks;
• pension risks;
• quality risks;
• market risks.
The main risks and the associated control measures are
described in more detail below.
Price development and availability of raw materials
For its core activities, ForFarmers uses raw materials of
agricultural origin such as wheat, maize, soya meal and
barley. Market prices for these raw materials are highly
volatile and are influenced by factors such as the quality
and volume of harvests.
Demand from the biofuels industry and speculative
trading by financial investors also play a role. ForFarmers
monitors developments in the area of raw materials
prices and availability intensively. Per Business Unit, a
purchasing policy has been defined that describes how
particular risks are to be covered and what positions
commodity group can be taken. Risks are covered via
financial instruments and commodity contracts where
necessary.
Currency and interest risks
The acquisition of raw materials and conclusion of sales
contracts may entail currency risks. Currency positions
relating to raw materials are covered by ForFarmers.
Currency risks relating to foreign interests are covered
partly by financing with external capital in the same
currency. ForFarmers is partly financed by means of
interest-bearing loans, which entails an interest risk.
Developments in the interest and currency markets
are monitored closely by the corporate governance
and compliance team and where necessary, risks
are covered by means of swaps and other financial
instruments.

Credit and liquidity risks of contract partners
Credit risks can arise if contract partners of ForFarmers,
such as suppliers or customers, fail to meet their contractual obligations. Contract partners are assessed
against a number of criteria. Additional arrangements
are made where required, including the provision of
additional securities. Risks are insured if necessary and
feasible. Proper fulfilment of obligations and developments affecting contract partners are monitored
closely. The credit risks in the pig and poultry sectors
have in the last few years increased due to the difficult
market conditions. ForFarmers contacts contract partners at an early stage when credit and liquidity risks
are on the increase.
Liquidity risks
ForFarmers should always be in a position to meet its
financial obligations. This is guaranteed by means of a
solid equity and liquidity position. At the end of 2013,
ForFarmers had a balance of freely available cash of
€ 147 million (in 2012: € 81 million) plus unused credit
facilities to the amount of € 94 million (in 2012:
€ 82 million).
In 2012, ForFarmers concluded new financing agreements with ABN AMRO Bank and Rabobank to the
amount of € 120 million. In the UK, the financing arrangement for financing working capital and investments
in assets with Lloyds Banking Group for an amount of
£ 86 million was extended in 2012. Through these arrangements, the company has at its disposal sufficient
liquidity to achieve its strategic objectives. In 2013, the
divestment transactions of Cefetra and Probroed were
completely settled.

Pension risks
The pension schemes of the Dutch and Belgian consolidated companies are defined-contribution plans held
by insurance companies. This means that these Business Units are liable only for the agreed contributions
to the insurance companies.
The German Business Units have an in-house definedbenefit pension plan for a limited number of people.
The pension obligation is included in a provision which
contains the balance of the following items:
• the present value of the committed pension rights
on the balance sheet date;
• plus or minus the actuarial results not yet recorded
in the results on the balance sheet date;
• minus the charges to be allocated to forthcoming
financial years for previous years of employment.
External developments can have an adverse effect on
the amount of the provision to be taken by ForFarmers.
In the UK, BOCM PAULS had a defined benefit plan until
30 September 2006. After 1 October 2006, there have
been no new entrants to this plan. From that date, a
new scheme was launched on the basis of defined
contributions. The obligations under that plan are held
by an insurance company. External
developments can have an adverse effect on the
financial position of the pension fund and could lead
to BOCM PAULS having to make additional payments.
The risk management model for the investments was
reassessed last year and a fiduciary manager will be
appointed in 2014.
Quality risks
The quality of the raw materials is of vital importance
for the production of safe and reliable compound feed.
ForFarmers is part of the association Trust Feed. The
goal of Trust Feed is to provide a maximum guarantee
for food safety. To this end, the participants have since
a few years combined their expertise in the fields of
monitoring, quality control, tracking and tracing, and
crisis management, and specific agreements have been
made on the choice of raw materials and of suppliers.
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The basis for these choices is a sound and objective risk
analysis, starting at the source of a raw material up to its
actual delivery.
In addition, ForFarmers applies its own procedures and
uses instruments to signal a possible contamination at
an early stage and then to take appropriate measures.
Analyses are carried out in its own labs as well as by
external parties.
Market risks
ForFarmers monitors developments in the market
closely and adjusts its policy if necessary. Several market
risks may occur.
Size of livestock population and animal diseases
As a result of changes in the size of the livestock population and outbreaks of animal diseases, demand for
raw materials and/or compound feed may fluctuate,
which can have an impact on ForFarmers’ results.
The size of the livestock population is influenced by a
number of factors, including the prices of agricultural
products and the costs of compliance with laws and
regulations, including environmental legislation. Animal
diseases can have an adverse effect on the number
of animals. In addition, animal diseases can lead to
transport restrictions imposed by the authorities.
By spreading its activities geographically, and across
different species, ForFarmers limits these risks.
Price movements for energy and fuel
A proportion of ForFarmers’ costs concerns energy and
fuel. Changes in the prices of energy and fuel affect the
costs of producing and transporting ForFarmers’ products. Higher costs cannot in all cases be passed on in
the sales prices, which can adversely affect the results.
In recent years, energy and fuel prices have been relatively volatile. ForFarmers has established a purchasing
policy for energy. Part of this policy is to cover price
risks, where necessary, via financial instruments and
commodity contracts. The compliance with this
purchasing policy is being monitored. Developments
on the energy and fuel markets are monitored closely.
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Changes in and compliance with legislation
Changes in legislation at European, national or local
level can have a considerable impact on the activities
of ForFarmers or its contract partners. This concerns for
example legislation in the field of environment, food
safety and production processes.
ForFarmers is closely monitoring developments in
legislation relevant to itself and its contract partners.
If necessary, adjustments are made following changes
in legislation. Compliance with legislation within
ForFarmers is verified by means of, among others,
periodical reviews.

General meeting
ForFarmers has the following bodies:
1.		 The general meeting: is the highest decision			 making body.
2.		 The Supervisory Board: supervises the Board of
			 Directors and is responsible for appointing its
			 members. It also acts as an adviser to the Board
			 of Directors. The Supervisory Board has different
			 committees, namely the remuneration commit			 tee, the audit committee and the appointments
			 committee.
3.		 The Statutory Board: consists of one person who is
			 also Chairman of the Board of Directors.
4.		 Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers: is the
			 body is responsible for administering ForFarmers’
			 share certificates.

General meeting
The general meeting decides, in accordance with the
articles of association, on important and fundamental
developments for the organisation. Shareholders, certificate holders and holders of participation accounts (at
Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.) are invited to the general
meeting. The general meeting is led by the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board.
Certificates are issued for shares in ForFarmers B.V. and
the shares are managed by Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers. Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
holds, as per 31 December 2013, 74.1% of the certificates. The voting rights associated with the certificates
are held by Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers.
Certificate holders and holders of participation accounts
at Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. can apply to Stichting
Administratiekantoor ForFarmers for a mandate to
exercise their voting rights.
The members’ council of Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
uses the voting rights that were not claimed by holders
of participation accounts and the voting rights on certificates not yet registered in the name of participation
account holders.

The Board of Directors of Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers exercises the remaining voting rights.
On 15 April 2014, there will be a meeting of certificate
holders concerning the change in administrative conditions of the Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers.
The change is about the Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
being able to exercise the voting rights on certificates
held by members (with the exception of votes that
were claimed by the members themselves or votes that
were left by the members to the Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers).
The voting right per certificate holder is limited to 5%
of the total number of votes to be cast. This 5% limit
also applies to a certificate holder who can exercise
the votes through a mutual agreement to collaborate
or through the certificate holders being part of a group
as referred to in Section 24B of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. This 5% limit can, both in general and in exceptional cases, be increased to a maximum of 15%, by a
decision of the Supervisory Board of ForFarmers B.V.
The voting right restriction does not apply to Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. or to a person exercising voting
rights on behalf of the Coöperatie.
The power to convene a general meeting is held by
the Board of Directors, each director individually, the
Supervisory Board and each supervisory director individually. The Board of Directors must convene a general
meeting in case one or more shareholders together
representing at least one tenth of the issued capital
submit a written request to that effect.
In 2013, two general meetings were held. At the regular
meeting of 10 April 2013, the dividend payment over
2012 and the 2012 annual accounts were adopted,
the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board were
discharged of their responsibilities and the auditor for
2013 was appointed. Furthermore, the establishment
of the Dutch intermediary holding ForFarmers Netherlands B.V. was discussed, plus the related changes in
the articles of association.
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On 28 November 2013, a decision-making meeting
was held. During that meeting, the appointment of
Mr. Yoram Knoop as the sole Statutory Director of
ForFarmers B.V. per 1 January 2014 was presented to
the general meeting for ratification. They agreed with
the proposal.
Transactions
There are no natural or legal persons holding at least
10% of ForFarmers’ certificates who engage in transactions (supply of products and/or services against
standard sectorial conditions) with ForFarmers. If this
is the case, such transactions will be referred to the
Supervisory Board for approval. Transactions of this
nature are mentioned in the report of the Supervisory
Board.
No transactions took place which involved a conflict
of interests between ForFarmers and its Statutory
Directors.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board of ForFarmers Group B.V. consists of six people. Three of them are also members of
the Supervisory Board of Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A.
Two members of the Supervisory Board are appointed via a special recommendation right of the works
council. Supervisory directors are appointed for a term
of four years, with the possibility of reappointment.
Attendance at Supervisory Board meetings is recorded.
No supervisory director was found to have been absent
frequently during the reporting year.
Each supervisory director must be capable of assessing
the broad lines of the overall management and has
specific expertise necessary in order to fulfil his or her
duties. The Supervisory Board may seek assistance in
this respect from the external auditor or another external expert. On an annual basis, the Supervisory Board
evaluates the need for training or education.
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank ForFarmers’
employees for their dedication. The Supervisory Board
also wishes to thank Bert-Jan Ruumpol who led the organisation for the previous eleven years as CEO. Under
his leadership, the company developed from a regional
player into an international company.
Conflicts of interest
For supervisory directors who are member of Coöperatie
FromFarmers, doing business with ForFarmers by definition entails a (potential) conflict of interests. Regular
transactions that are also done with other ForFarmers
customers, subject to standard conditions, are not
regarded as conflicting. In addition, any form of conflict
of interests between ForFarmers and supervisory
directors is avoided. Decisions to enter into transactions
involving conflicting interests of supervisory directors
that are of material significance to ForFarmers and/or
for the supervisory director concerned, other than described above, require the approval of the Supervisory
Board.
There were no such transactions between ForFarmers
and the supervisory directors in the reporting year, nor

any other transactions involving a conflict of interests.
Detailed rules on conflicts of interests are included
in the Supervisory Board regulations, which can be
consulted via the ForFarmers website (www.forfarmers.
eu/documents).
Fulfilment of its supervisory role
The most important duty of the Supervisory Board is
to supervise the Board of Directors. It also acts as an
adviser to the Board of Directors. The Supervisory
Board’s supervision of the Board of Directors includes
monitoring the attainment of ForFarmers’ objectives
and compliance with laws and regulations. Both the
Supervisory Board and an individual member have a
responsibility to request all information from the Board
of Directors and from the external auditor or other
advisors that they require in order to perform the
supervisory duties in a proper manner.
The Supervisory Board discusses at least once a year,
without the Board of Directors being present, both its
own performance and that of the individual supervisory directors and the conclusions to be drawn. The
desired profile, composition and competencies of the
Supervisory Board are also discussed. The Supervisory
Board further discusses at least once a year the performance of the Board of Directors - in the absence of the
latter - and the conclusions to be drawn.
The composition of the Supervisory Board is such that
the members are able to operate independently and
critically towards each other and towards the Board
of Directors. The supervisory directors also hold the
positions mentioned under their personal details (see
page 70-71). Further rules on members’ independence
are included in the Supervisory Board regulations.
In 2013, consultation between the Supervisory Board
and the Board of Directors took place on seven occasions,
in line with the established meeting schedule. There
were two additional meetings and there was one meeting without the Board of Directors. There was also one
meeting on the strategic objectives of ForFarmers.
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The main topics were:
• the 2012 annual accounts;
• the development of the results in 2013;
• the 2014 budget;
• integration ForFarmers - Hendrix;
• integration ForFarmers - BOCM PAULS;
• potential acquisitions;
• the company’s strategy;
• risk management and internal control;
• investments in production sites and in participations;
• succession of the CEO;
• follow-up on Vermogen Op Naam;
• Coöperatie FromFarmers and the future developments.

Committees of the Supervisory Board of
ForFarmers B.V.
Remuneration committee
The remuneration prepares decisions for the Supervisory
Board concerning the fixed and variable remuneration of
the Board of Directors.
Members:
Mr. C.J.M. van Rijn, Chairman
Mr. H.J. Nordbeck
The remuneration committee met twice in 2013. Based
on the performance in relation to previously agreed
objectives, the variable remuneration of the Board of
Directors over 2012 was established. In addition, the
objectives were set for the variable remuneration over
2013. Later in the year, there was a discussion on the
terms and conditions for the new CEO of ForFarmers.
Starting point here was a benchmark survey of remuneration levels for directors, done in 2012 by an external
consultancy firm. The remuneration committee also
had a discussion with each member of the Board
separately, concerning the succession of the CEO.
Audit committee
The audit committee makes a proposal concerning the
appointment of the auditor of the annual accounts, and
discusses the auditor’s report with the auditor and the
Board of Directors. In addition, the audit committee
discusses the risk management measures in force and
it advises the Board on finance-related legislation.

68

Members:
Mr. J.W. Eggink, Chairman
Mrs. J.W. Addink-Berendsen
Mr. C.J.M. van Rijn
In 2013, the audit committee met four times. These meetings were attended also by Ernst & Young Accountants
LLP, the company’s external auditor. Topics discussed
include the following:
• items to be addressed in the financial year 2013;
• settlement of the sale of Cefetra and
deconsolidation;
• auditor’s report and 2012 annual accounts;
• the implementation of SAP at Hendrix;
• PPA (Purchase Price Allocation) and pension valuation
at BOCM PAULS and Hendrix;
• Corporate Governance issues;
• risk management guideline for commodities
procurement and reporting;
• changes in legislation on external reporting;
• consequences of the new legislation concerning
auditor’s and consultancy activities;
• management letter of the 2013 auditor;
• transactions with associated parties.
Appointments committee
The appointments committee makes proposals for the
appointment of supervisory directors and of the CEO,
and monitors the quality requirements applying to the
Supervisory Board.
Members:
Mr J. Markink, Chairman
Mr H. Mulder
Mr J.W. Eggink

The appointments committee met six times in 2013.
The main issue was the position of CEO of ForFarmers,
which became vacant in March 2013 after the resignation of Mr. B.J. Ruumpol was announced.
The Supervisory Board decided on a profile for the
vacancy, for which the appointments committee
did the preparation work. Based on this profile,
Mr. Y.M. Knoop was appointed by the general meeting
of ForFarmers as CEO of ForFarmers, as per 1 January
2014. Main arguments for the Supervisory Board to
nominate Mr. Knoop were: knowledge of the sector,
international experience and experience with companies operating in a low-margin market.
Additionally, the appointments committee worked
on the rotation schedule for the Supervisory Board
of ForFarmers and the consequences of the adjusted
company structure of ForFarmers B.V.
ForFarmers Netherlands B.V. is an entity to which the
so-called “Structuurregime” applies. This means that
the employee participation (including a special right to
nominate one-third of the members of the Supervisory
Board) now operates at the level of this new entity.
Proposed changes to the rotation schedule are:
Mr. J.W. Eggink is eligible for reappointment as supervisory director of ForFarmers B.V. for another period
of 4 years and Mr. H.J. Nordbeck will step down as
supervisory director of ForFarmers B.V. Both changes
will apply as from the general meeting of April 2014.
Mr. H.J. Nordbeck will join the Supervisory Board of
ForFarmers Netherlands B.V. as per April 2014.
Consequently there will be a vacancy in the Supervisory Board of ForFarmers B.V. Selection for this
vacancy will be done by the appointments committee,
supported by an external advisor. This advisor will
also be involved in evaluating the performance of
the supervisory directors and of the Supervisory Board
as a whole.

Financial statements and recommendation
to the general meeting
With the financial statements, the Board of Directors reports and answers to the general meeting on the policy
conducted. The financial statements of ForFarmers B.V.
for the financial year 2013 have been drawn up by the
Board of Directors. The financial statements have been
audited by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, an expert as
indicated in the articles of association. The audit opinion
issued by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP is included
under ‘Independent auditor’s report’ on pages 130-131.
We recommend that the annual meeting adopt the
2013 financial statements of ForFarmers B.V. We also
recommend that the general meeting discharge the
Board of Directors of its responsibility for the management performed in 2013 and the Supervisory Board
for the supervision exercised.

Lochem, 20 March 2014

On behalf of the Supervisory Board
Mr. J. Markink, Chairman
Mr. J.W. Eggink, Secretary/Vice-Chairman
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Consolidated balance sheet
(before appropriation of results)

In € x 1.000
ASSETS

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

41,516
12,796

34,499
15,548

54,312

50,047

91,877
72,041
23,137
9,406
5,930

95,694
73,374
19,345
5,316
6,314

(2)

202,391

200,043

(3)
(4)
(4)

712
5,503
14,969

2,072
11,387
19,113

21,184

32,572

277,887

282,662

FIXED ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Other intangible fixed assets
(1)
Tangible fixed assets
Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Other operating assets
Assets under construction
Other non-current fixed assets

Financial fixed assets
Investments in associated companies
Receivables
Deferred tax assets

Total fixed assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks

(5)

99,977

111,436

Receivables
Trade receivables
Receivables from group companies
Taxes and social security
Other receivables and current assets

(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

222,455
870
7,478
19,005

239,637
694
10,114
91,196

249,808

341,641

146,840

80,916

Total current assets

496,625

533,993

TOTAL ASSETS

774,512

816,655

Cash and cash equivalents
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(10)

In € x 1.000
LIABILITIES

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

GROUP EQUITY
Equity

(11)

338,367

322,904

Minority interest in group equity

(12)

4,328

4,199

342,695

327,103

59,299
653
16,251
2,176
7,224

65,854
1,395
20,863
2,740
6,666

85,603

97,518

(18)

128,490
761

155,409
859

(14)

129,251

156,268

(15)
(16)
(17)

101,545
27,099
10,645
77,674

105,640
30,658
10,928
88,540

216,963

235,766

774,512

816,655

PROVISIONS
Pensions
Restructuring
Deferred tax liabilities
Soil decontamination
Other provisions

(19)
(13)
(13)
(13)
(13)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Debts to credit institutions
Other debts

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Debts to credit institutions
Taxes and social security
Other debts and current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
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Consolidated profit and loss account
In € x 1,000

Turnover
Discounts

(22)

Net turnover
Costs of raw materials and consumables
Gross profit
Other operating income

(23)

Operating income
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses

(24)
(25)
(26)

Operating expenses
Operating result
Interest income
Interest expenses

(27)
(28)

Net financing expenses/income

2013

Pro forma
2012*

2012

2,624,891
68,099

2,564,270
66,356

6,617,323
55,805

2,556,792
2,169,315

2,497,914
2,097,021

6,561,518
6,219,439

387,477
7,473

400,893
8,330

342,079
8,058

394,950

409,223

350,137

124,466
25,866
201,189

129,437
23,180
198,357

109,813
19,420
157,762

351,521

350,974

286,995

43,429

58,249

63,142

2,627
- 4,907

3,102
- 7,133

2,807
- 10,269

- 2,280

- 4,031

- 7,462

Result before taxation
Taxes
Share in results from associates

(29)
(30)

41,149
- 11,333
1,795

54,218
- 14,626
852

55,680
- 13,133
13,427

Group result after tax
Minority interest

(31)

31,611
- 489

40,444
- 1,258

55,974
-3,274

31,122

39,186

52,700

2013

Pro forma
2012*

2012

0.29

0.37

0.50

Result after tax

Result after tax per share

* The 2012 pro forma figures include the ForFarmers results for the full year, as if the 2012 transactions (acquisition of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS
and sale of Cefetra and Probroed) had happened on 1 January 2012. This means that the results of the Hendrix and BOCM PAULS acquisitions are included over the whole of 2012 and that the results of the entities disposed of during the year (Cefetra and Probroed) have been
eliminated over the whole of 2012. For a more detailed explanation of these transactions, see the explanatory notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The 2012 pro forma figures have not been audited.
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Consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income
In € x 1,000

2013

Result after tax
Exchange differences related to business disposals
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign subsidiaries
Actuarial results
Adjustment of the corporate tax rate *

2012
31,122

52,700

-

- 63

- 411
- 3,989
- 890

278
577
-

Total direct changes to equity (after taxation)

- 5,290

855

Total other comprehensive income

25,832

53,492

* This concerns the adjustment of the corporate tax rate related to the actuarial results.
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Consolidated cash flow statement
In € x 1,000

2013

Cash flow from operating activities
Operating result
Depreciation
Change in provisions
Stocks
Receivables
Short-term debts, excluding debts to credit institutions
Effect of deconsolidation of Cefetra
Change in working capital

43,429

63,142

25,866
- 10,171

19,322
9,836

11,048
9,841
- 12,594
-

- 120,090
- 35,766
83,616
39,248
8,295

- 32,992

67,419

59,308

Interest received
Dividend received
Interest paid
Corporation tax paid
Result from operating activities other subsidiaries

2,462
1,405
- 4,934
- 10,997
-

2,906
2,590
- 9,711
- 6,632
- 304

Net cash flow from operating activities

55,355

48,157

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash flow from investment activities
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Disposals of tangible fixed assets
Investments in intangible fixed assets
Investments in financial fixed assets
Disposals of financial fixed assets
Acquisitions
Sale of subsidiaries

- 28,847
400
- 410
4,933
- 3,851
77,457

Cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Receipts from long-term liabilities and bank credit
Repayment of long-term liabilities and bank credit
Dividend paid
Sale (purchase) of shares
Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow
Currency and exchange differences on monetary items
Increase of cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of book year
Cash and cash equivalents per end of book year
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2012

- 22,775
377
- 641
- 1,487
- 4,739
- 130,754
49,682

479
- 29,249
- 12,150
2,140

- 160,019
119,088
- 407
- 6,421
- 835

- 38,780

111,425

66,257

- 437

-333

-

65,924

- 437

80,916

81,353

146,840

80,916

ForFarmers excluding
discontinued operations
The following information is included to provide the user of the financial statements insight into the financial results
of ForFarmers as it is after the 2012 transactions (specifically the acquisitions of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS and the
sale of Cefetra and Probroed).
In column 'Pro forma 2012', the results of the sold entities Cefetra and Probroed have been eliminated for the full
year. This column includes the total result as if the acquisitions of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS had taken place on
1 January 2012. This means that the first quarter results have been added for Hendrix, and that the first half year
results have been added for BOCM PAULS. The 2012 pro forma figures have not been audited.
* In column '2012', compared to the regular consolidated 2012 figures, the results of the sold entities Cefetra and
Probroed have been eliminated for the full year, whereas the results of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS have been
included as from the acquisition date (1 April 2012 and 1 July 2012 respectively).
In € x 1,000

2013 Pro forma 2012

2012*

Turnover
Discounts

2,624,891
68,099

2,564,270
66,356

2,026,396
55,805

Net turnover
Costs of raw materials and consumables

2,556,792
2,169,315

2,497,914
2,097,021

1,970,591
1,660,008

Gross profit
Other operating income

387,477
7,473

400,893
8,330

310,583
7,124

Operating income

394,950

409,223

317,707

Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses

124,466
25,866
201,189

129,437
23,180
198,357

96,514
18,263
151,890

Operating expenses

351,521

350,974

266,667

Operating result

43,429

58,249

51,040

Interest income
Interest expenses

2,627
- 4,907

3,102
- 7,133

2,807
- 4,476

Net financing expenses/income

- 2,280

- 4,031

- 1,669

Result before taxation
Taxes
Share in results from associates

41,149
- 11,333
1,795

54,218
- 14,626
852

49,371
- 11,811
852

31,611
- 489

40,444
- 1,258

38,412
- 1,262

31,122

39,186

37,150

Group result after tax
Minority interest
Result after tax
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The reconciliation of the result after tax is as follows:
In € x 1,000

2013

2012

Net result ForFarmers excluding divested operations
Net result of operations divested in 2012

31,122
-

37,150
15,550

31,122

52,700

Result after tax
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Accounting principles
For a description of ForFarmers’ activities, see the report from the Board of Directors.

General
These consolidated financial statements include the financial result of ForFarmers B.V. ('the company') and its
subsidiaries (jointly: 'the group') over the financial year ended on 31 December 2013. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in Euro and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand Euro unless
indicated otherwise.
The company has prepared both the company financial statements and the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the legal provisions of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
ForFarmers B.V. is part of a group headed by Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. in Lochem. During 2013, ForFarmers
Netherlands B.V. has been established as holding company for the Dutch entities.
During the financial year, the company changed its name to ForFarmers B.V. (formerly ForFarmers Group B.V.)
During the general meeting of 28 November 2013, Mr. Yoram Knoop was appointed as statutory director of ForFarmers
B.V. as from 1 January 2014.
Article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code has been applied to the company profit and loss account.

Change in accounting principles
The group applies to its UK pension scheme the requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards
as approved for application in the European Union (IFRS-EU). Per 1 January 2013, the standard concerning pensions
(IAS 19) has changed. This leads to a retrospective change in accounting principles. The main changes are the
inclusion of the actuarial result in the other comprehensive income statement, the calculation of the investment
result and the disclosure requirements. For the group, the primary consequence is the recording of a net actuarial
result in the other comprehensive income statement 2012 for an amount of € 577 thousand, resulting into an
increase of the 2012 personnel expenses by € 750 thousand.

Pro forma financial information
In the column 'Pro forma 2012', the results of the sold entities (Cefetra and Probroed) have been eliminated for
the full year. This column includes the ForFarmers results as if the acquisitions of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS were
effected on 1 January 2012. This means that for Hendrix, the first quarter results have been added, and that for
BOCM PAULS, the first half year results have been added.

Treatment of the sale of Cefetra B.V. (in the comparative figures)
On 27 September 2012, ForFarmers B.V. concluded an agreement with BayWa AG concerning the sale of
ForFarmers’ interest in Cefetra B.V. As per the end of 2012, therefore, ForFarmers B.V. did no longer have a controlling
interest in Cefetra B.V. As a result, the balance sheet of Cefetra B.V. is not included in the consolidated financial
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statements of 2012, and the balance sheet includes a receivable from BayWa Dutch Agrico B.V. (part of the
BayWa Group) for the selling price. In the profit and loss account, the result of Cefetra B.V. is included until the date
ForFarmers ceased to have a controlling interest. This means that the results of Cefetra B.V. are included in the consolidated result for the whole of 2012. The transaction result on the sale of the Cefetra shares has been recorded in
the profit and loss account under 'Share in results from associates'. In January 2013 this amount was received.

Acquisitions
Acquisitions are recorded in the current financial year in accordance with the purchase accounting method. In
determining the value of the different intangible assets, assumptions have been made concerning changes in
customer database, and the value and expected use of brand names. Assessing the fair value of the identifiable
tangible fixed assets requires assumptions concerning the remaining economic and technical life.
In determining the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities, ForFarmers focused in particular on the following
aspects:
• The fair value of tangible fixed assets;
• Identifiable brand names;
• Identifiable customer database;
• The fair value of acquired receivables and debts;
• Deferred tax liability associated with the acquired assets and liabilities;
• Goodwill.
The assistance of independent external and internal experts on valuation was used in order to value the various
components, particularly for the validation of the models and the valuation of the acquired tangible and intangible
assets. The way the purchase-price allocation has been done is in accordance with the provisions of Dutch law on
preparation of financial statements.
The identified asset and liability categories have been valued at their fair value as per the date of the acquisition.
At the date of preparation of the financial statements, the purchase-price allocation calculations for each of the
acquisitions during the book year are not final yet. Dutch legislation permits a final incorporation into the accounts
before the end of the first financial year following the year in which the acquisition took place.
The company valued the acquired liabilities at their fair value as per the date of acquisition.
The acquisition price is equal to the total enterprise value including the net liabilities. The costs directly related to
the acquisition, such as legal and other consultancy costs, have been added to the acquisition price.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the company and its group companies
as per 31 December of the book year. Group companies are legal entities and companies in which a controlling
interest is exercised.
The group companies are fully consolidated as from the date when the controlling interest in the group company
has been acquired. The group companies are included in the consolidation up to the date when there is no longer
a controlling interest. The entities in the consolidated financial statements have been included using uniform
principles of valuation and result determination.
Joint ventures are consolidated pro rata if there is a shared controlling interest.
Minority interest in the equity and in the result are stated separately in the consolidated financial statements.
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Mergers and acquisitions
An acquisition is recorded in the financial statements in accordance with the purchase accounting method. In case
of an acquisition, the method is applied as described in the explanatory notes on goodwill.
In case of merging of interests, the pooling of interests method is applied. The merged companies are recorded at
their book values as from the start of the financial year and comparative figures are adjusted as if the merger had
already taken place.
A minority interest in the case of a merger or acquisition is valued at the pro rata share in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities.
For a description of the acquisitions, see the explanatory notes to the consolidated balance sheet and profit and
loss account.

Currency
The consolidated financial statements are stated in Euro, the functional and presentation currency of ForFarmers.
The functional and presentation currency used by ForFarmers and its foreign operations have not changed against
the previous year. The functional currency for the activities in the UK is the British Pound.
Each entity within ForFarmers determines its functional currency independently and the entities in each entity’s
financial statements are valued on the basis of that functional currency.
Monetary balance sheet items in foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate as per the balance sheet
date. Non-monetary balance sheet items in foreign currency which have been valued at historical cost, are converted at the exchange rate as per the transaction date. The non-monetary balance sheet items in foreign currency
which have been valued at current value, are converted at the exchange rate as per the time the item is valued.
Turnover, costs and profits of transactions in foreign currency are converted at the time of the transaction at the
rate current at that moment.
Exchange rate differences occurring at settlement or conversion of monetary items in foreign currency are recorded
in the profit and loss account.
Goodwill arising from acquisition of business operations abroad is regarded as an asset of the foreign operation
and is converted at the rate as per balance sheet date. At the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation are converted into ForFarmers’ presentation currency (Euro) at the rate as per balance sheet date.
The gains and losses in the profit and loss account are converted at the average rate for the year. The resulting
currency differences are recorded in the statutory reserve ‘Reserve for exchange rate differences’. When the foreign
operation is sold, the relevant cumulative amount of exchange rate differences included in the equity is recorded
in the profit and loss account as part of the result on sale.

Fair value
The fair value of financial instruments is determined using available market information or estimation methods.
In case of estimation methods, the fair value is approximated:
• by inference from the fair value of its components or of a similar instrument, in case a reliable fair value can
be demonstrated for its components or for a similar instrument; or
• using generally accepted valuation models and techniques.
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Amortised cost
The amortised cost of receivables and liabilities is determined by means of the effective-interest method,
taking into account any write-off’s for impairment or bad debts. In calculating the effective-interest rate, premiums
or discounts at the time of acquisition and transaction costs are taken into account.

Intangible fixed assets
General
An intangible fixed asset is included in the balance sheet if:
• it is likely that the future economic benefits will flow to ForFarmers; and
• the costs of the asset can be reliably determined.
Expenditure relating to an intangible fixed asset that does not meet the conditions for capitalisation (for example
expenditure on research and internally developed brands, logo’s, publication rights and customer databases) is
accounted for directly in the profit and loss account.
The intangible fixed assets are valued at the acquisition cost or manufacturing cost less the cumulative depreciation or the lower realisable value (the higher of asset value or direct market value). Intangible fixed assets are
amortised periodically on the basis of estimated economic life. The economic life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each financial year.
The intangible fixed assets acquired as part of the acquisition of a group company are recorded at the fair value
as per date of acquisition.
Goodwill
The positive difference between the acquisition price and the company’s share in the fair value of the acquired
identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of transaction, is capitalised as goodwill in the year of acquisition, and
annually amortised.
Permitted adjustments of the acquisition price lead to an adjustment of the goodwill. Later adjustments of the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities are recorded in the goodwill, provided the change is made before the
end of the first financial year commencing after the date of acquisition. Adjustments identified thereafter are
recorded in the profit and loss account.
Other intangible fixed assets
The other intangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition cost, and annually amortised.
Amortisation rates
For the various acquisitions, the following amortisation rates are applied per category of intangible fixed assets.
The rates are based on the estimated useful life of the asset:
• customer databases 		
5 - 10%;
• trade and brand names 		
5 - 50%;
• goodwill 			
5 - 10%.
The amortisation of the customer database is based on the historical development of the customer portfolio.
The amortisation of trade and brand names depends on the period for which the trade and brand names will
actually still be used.
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Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are valued at purchase price, less annual fixed amounts of depreciation, based on the
purchase price. The depreciation rates are as follows:
• buildings 			
2 - 10%;
• machinery and equipment
5 - 20%;
• other operating assets 		
10 - 33%;
• houses 			
2 - 4%.
The depreciation rates are based on the estimated useful life of the asset.
A residual value is taken into account when determining the depreciation. In case the expectation regarding the
depreciation method, useful life and/or residual value changes in the course of time, it will be recorded as an
adjustment in the estimation.
The category 'Other non-current fixed assets' comprises land, houses and other assets that are no longer being used.
Such assets are valued at book value or at lower market value. In case the expected market value is considerably
higher than the book value, and it has been decided to sell, an extraordinary revaluation will be done which will be
recorded in a reserve for revaluation. At the moment the value increase is realised, the revaluation is recorded as a
separate item in the profit and loss account.
Cost of repair and large-scale maintenance is not capitalised.

Financial fixed assets
Participating interests
Participating interests in which the company exercises a significant interest on the business and financial
management are valued according to equity accounting method. In line with this method, the participating interests
are recorded in the balance sheet pro rate of the share of the net asset value that the company holds, plus its share of
the results of the participating interest as from date of acquisition, determined according to the principles described
in these financial statements. In the profit and loss account, the company’s share of the result of the participating interest is recorded. If and insofar the company cannot unrestrictedly secure a distribution of the profit to itself, the profit
will be recorded in a statutory reserve. Its share of any direct changes in the participating interest’s equity will also be
recorded in the statutory reserve.
Participating interests in which the company does not have a controlling interest over the business and financial
management are valued at the acquisition cost or the lower net realisable value (the higher of the asset value and
direct market value). In the profit and loss account, the dividend is recorded as income from participating interests.
Receivables
Receivables under financial fixed assets are valued at the amortised cost. When first recorded, the receivables are
valued at fair value, taking into account premiums or discounts and transaction costs when the asset is first recorded.
The premium or discount on loans granted or acquired is accounted for by recording it respectively as a credit
or debit to the profit and loss account during the term of the loan. The nominal amount of the loan is therefore
reduced or increased by the outstanding premium or discount still to be allocated to the result.
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Impairments of financial assets
On each balance sheet date, ForFarmers assesses whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets has undergone an impairment. For all categories of financial assets that are valued at (amortised) cost, in case there is an
objective indication of an impairment, the extent of the loss resulting from the impairment is determined and
recorded in the profit and loss account.

Stocks
Stocks of raw materials for animal feed products are valued at the lower of cost or market value at balance sheet
date, plus any additional costs. Trading stocks are valued on the same basis, deducting a provision for obsolete
stock. Stocks of finished products are valued at the cost of the raw materials used, plus costs of manufacturing.
Trading stocks and stocks of finished products are written down if there is an indication of a lower expected market
value. Outstanding contract positions and associated currency transactions are not included in the stock value.

Receivables
When first recorded, receivables are valued at fair value. Receivables are thereafter recorded at amortised cost,
with a deduction for any provisions for bad debts.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value.

Provisions
Provisions are created for liabilities of which it is likely that they will need to be settled, and of which the value can be
reasonably estimated. A provision is created only if there is a liability that is legally enforceable or an actual liability.
The size of the provision is determined by the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the liabilities and losses
concerned as per balance sheet date. Provisions are recorded at nominal value, with the exception of the provision for
anniversary-related obligations. The liability for the anniversary regulation is calculated actuarially, based on directive
271 for the annual reporting.

Pensions
The premium payable to the pension provider is recorded as an expense in the profit and loss account. Premium
payable or pre-paid premium per year-end is recorded as liability or prepayment respectively.
For obligations besides the premium payable to the pension provider, a provision is recorded if, as per the
balance sheet date, there is a legally enforceable or actual liability towards the pension provider and/or towards
the employee, and/or if it is likely that an outflow of funds is necessary in order to settle that liability, and if a
reliable estimate can be made of the extent of the liability. The provision for additional obligations towards the
pension provider and/or towards the employee is valued at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle
the obligations as per balance sheet date. The provision is valued at present value if the effect of the time value
of the money is material (with the discount rate before tax representing the current market interest).
A pension claim arising from surpluses held by the pension provider is recorded if ForFarmers has a right of
disposal over the surplus, if it is likely to lead to future economic benefits for ForFarmers and if it can be reliably
determined. A pension surplus is valued in the same way as a provision.
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The group has a defined-benefit plan in the UK for which contributions must be paid to a separately managed
fund. This scheme is recorded according to the IAS 19R provision, as permitted under the Dutch principles for
annual reporting, and has been processed as a change in accounting principles. The costs of the defined-benefit
plan are determined using actuarial methods on the basis of the ‘projected unit credit’ method. Actuarial results
are recorded directly into equity as a change in other reserves, and are consequently included in the other
comprehensive result.
The past service costs regarding benefits not yet unconditionally committed will be recorded as an expense on a
linear basis, over the average period until the benefits have been committed unconditionally. In case the benefit is
committed unconditionally directly after the introduction of, or changes to a pension plan, the past service costs
are recorded directly.
The net obligation from defined pension benefits consists of the present value of the gross obligation from the
defined benefits (under application of a discount rate based on high-quality corporate bonds), less unvested past
service costs and less the fair value of the fund investments from which the obligations must be settled. Fund
investments are assets held by a pension fund or qualifying insurance contracts. Fund investments are assets held
by a pension fund or relevant insurance contracts. Fund investments are not available for the group’s own creditors and cannot be paid out directly to the group. The fair value is based on information regarding market prices
and, in the case of listed securities, the published bid price.
The actuarial methods involves making assumptions - which can deviate from actual future developments - about
discount rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future indexation of pension benefits. Due to the complex nature of the method and the long-term character of the plan, a defined-benefit plan is extremely sensitive to
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed per each reporting date. For the determination of an
appropriate discount rate, management works with the interest rates that apply to corporate bonds in the relevant
currency with at least an AA rating, where the extrapolated term matches the expected term of the defined-benefit
plan. The underlying bonds will also be rated on quality, where the bonds with excessive credit spreads are removed
from the analysis of the bonds on which the discount rate is based, since those are not high-quality bonds.
For the mortality rate, publicly available mortality tables for the countries involved are used. Future salary increases
and indexation of pension benefits are based on expected inflation rates for the countries involved.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities include liabilities with a remaining term of over one year. Short-term redemptions on these
long-term liabilities (due within a year) are recorded as current liabilities.
At initial recording of non-current liabilities, they are valued at fair value less the directly related transaction costs.
Next, non-current liabilities are valued at amortised cost using the effective-interest method. If there is no premium, discount or transaction costs, the amortised cost is equal to the nominal value of the liability.

Derivatives and hedge accounting
ForFarmers uses derivative financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to
cover the risks incurred in relation to interest rate and currency fluctuations. At inception, such financial instruments
are valued at fair value. In addition, ForFarmers uses forward contracts and futures within its process of raw
materials purchasing.
When first recording the transactions, ForFarmers classifies the derivatives under the scope of RJ 290 on a portfolio
basis in the following subcategories:
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Derivatives with application of cost-price hedge accounting
Hedges are recorded according to cost-price hedge accounting if the following conditions are met:
• The general hedge strategy, how the hedge relationships fit in with the risk management objectives and the
expectation concerning the effectiveness of these relationships have been documented;
• The hedge instruments and hedged positions involved in the type of hedge relationship are documented;
• The hedge is effective.
Any in-effectiveness is recorded in the profit and loss account, for as long as the hedge is still sufficiently
effective. If there is no longer an effective hedge, hedge accounting is discontinued.
Hedges that meet these strict conditions for hedge accounting are recorded as follows:
For as long as the hedged item in the cost-price hedge has not yet been recorded in the balance sheet, the hedge
instrument is not revalued. If the hedged position of an expected future transaction leads to a financial asset or a
financial liability, the associated profits or losses not yet recorded in the result are recorded in the profit and loss
account in the same period(s) in which the acquired asset or liability influences the result.
If the hedged item concerns a monetary item in foreign currency, the derivative, insofar as it contains currency
elements, is also valued at the present value as per balance sheet date. If the derivative contains currency elements, the difference between the present value as per the time of inception of the derivative, and the forward
rate at which the derivative will be settled, is spread over the term of the derivative.
Until recorded in the profit and loss account, any realised profits or losses made on hedge instruments are recorded in the balance sheet as accruals.
Cost-price hedge accounting is discontinued in case:
• The hedge instrument expires or is sold, discontinued or exercised. The cumulative realised result on the hedge
instrument that had not yet been recorded in the profit and loss account when there was an effective hedge,
is recorded separately in the accruals on the balance sheet until the hedged transaction takes place.
• The hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. If the hedged position concerns a
transaction expected in the future, the hedge results are recorded as follows:
- If the expected transaction is still expected to occur, hedge accounting is ceased from that date. The associated
		 cumulative result on the hedge instrument that was kept out of the profit and loss account (or off-balance
		 sheet) during the period in which the hedge was effective, continues off-balance sheet or on the balance
		 sheet, depending on the situation.
- If the expected transaction is no longer expected to occur, the associated cumulative result on the hedge
		 instrument that was kept out of the profit and loss account (or off-balance sheet) during the period in
		 which the hedge was effective, is transferred to the profit and loss account.
ForFarmers has used the option of not early adopting the implementation of RJ guideline 2013-15 concerning
cost price hedge accounting. Application of this guideline would have had no impact on the financial statements
of 2013.
Other derivatives
Other derivatives with a listed underlying value are valued at fair value after the first valuation. Gains and losses
resulting from changes in fair value are recorded in the profit and loss account.
Other derivatives with a non-listed underlying value are valued at cost or lower fair value after the first valuation.
Gains and losses are recorded in the profit and loss account as soon as the derivatives are transferred to a third party
or undergo an extraordinary revaluation.
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Taxation
A deferred tax liability is recorded for all temporary tax differences. For all deductible temporary differences and
for losses available for future offset, a deferred tax asset is recorded insofar as it is likely that fiscal profit will be
available to be offset.
The valuation of deferred tax liabilities and -assets is based on the fiscal consequences of the manner in which the
company intends to realise or settle assets, provisions, debts or accruals/deferred income as per balance sheet
date. The deferred tax liabilities and -assets are valued at nominal value.
The company and the Dutch subsidiaries in which the company has a 100% interest form a fiscal group for the
purposes of corporation tax and VAT. Settlement of taxes within this fiscal group takes place as if each company
is independently liable for tax.
A number of companies in Germany form a fiscal group for the purposes of corporation tax (Körperschaftsteuer
and Gewerbesteuer). Settlement of taxes within this fiscal group takes place as if each company is independently
liable for tax.
The companies in the UK form a fiscal group for the purposes of corporation tax and VAT. Settlement of taxes
within this fiscal group takes place as if each company is independently liable for tax.
Tax is calculated based on the reported result, taking into account items which are exempt from tax and expenses
fully or partially non-deductible.

Estimates
In preparing the financial statements, ForFarmers uses various estimates. The most important estimates, with
accompanying assumptions, are as follows:
Depreciation and residual value
The depreciation rate used is based on the expected economic life of the asset. The depreciation rates are further
explained under the principles for the tangible fixed assets.
Receivables and loans
Valuation of receivables and loans granted is done including the aspect of bad debts.
Provision for personnel regulations, such as jubilee and pensions
These estimates relate in particular to the interest rates and rates of personnel turnover, disability, death and
retirement to be used, as well as the inflation assumptions and career tables.
Intangible fixed assets
In determining the value of the various intangible fixed assets, assumptions have been made concerning changes
in customer base, the value and the expected use of brand names.

Leasing
Whether or not an agreement contains a lease element is assessed on the basis of the economic reality at inception of the contract. The contract is regarded as a lease agreement if the execution of the agreement depends
on the use of a specific asset, or if the agreement includes the right to use a specific asset. In the case of finance
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leasing (where the benefits and costs associated with ownership of the leased asset are borne wholly or mainly by
the lessee), the leased asset and the associated liability are recorded in the balance sheet at the time of inception.
In the case of operating lease, the lease payments are charged to the profit and loss account, linearly over the lease
period.

Turnover, results, operating expenses
Under turnover, amounts invoiced to customers are recorded excluding any invoiced VAT. The net turnover is the
turnover after deducting customer discounts. Turnover is recorded in the period to which it relates.
Turnover agricultural raw materials
Results from wash-outs are recorded in net turnover, as far as the sales transaction is concerned, and under the
costs of trade articles, as far as the procurement transaction is concerned.
A wash-out is an opposite transaction against a particular position for which both parties agree that, instead of
a physical delivery, only the price difference will be settled in cash,
If any positions taken lead to undesirable risks, those positions will be hedged to cover the risks. In this event,
related and opposite results may be realised in different financial years. The results of related transactions in
different financial years will however be balanced in the year in which the hedge is settled.
If the balance is a loss, the loss is recorded in the year during which it can be anticipated. Profits which are realised
in a subsequent year are recorded only insofar as there is sufficient certainty that these results will be realised.
Operating expenses
The operating expenses are determined taking into account the aforementioned accounting principles for valuation and recorded in the reporting year to which they relate. (Foreseeable) liabilities and potential losses stemming
from causes occurring before the end of the financial year are recorded if they became known before the financial
statements were made and the further conditions for recording provisions are met.

Interest income, interest expenses
Interest income and interest expenses also include any changes to the calculated provisions based on the interest
rates used.

Tax burden
The tax recorded includes any tax due over the financial year, as well as the movements in liabilities and assets
for deferred taxes. The tax burden also takes into account tax-exempt items and costs that are non-deductible or
partially deductible.

Share in results from associates
For participating interests in which significant influence is exercised, the share of the result of those participating
interests is included. For other participating interests, the dividends are recorded in the financial year in which they
have been received.
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Explanatory notes to the consolidated
balance sheet and profit & loss account
General
As a result of the acquisitions and disposals during 2012, the comparability of the years 2013 and 2012 is limited.
Additional information about the trend of the profit and loss account is given in the summary on page 79. Where
relevant, ForFarmers has provided further details in the explanatory notes concerning the individual items on
the profit and loss account, in order to improve comparability.

Currency
The rates of the main currencies against the Euro are as follows:
Final rate
in Euro
British Pound (BOCM PAULS *)
British Pound (Cefetra)
US Dollar
Polish Zloty
Hungarian Forint

Average rate

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

2013

2012

0.83
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

0.82
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

0.85
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

0.80
0.81
1.30
4.19
290.6

* Average rate over the period 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012.

For the year 2013, only the British Pound is relevant. In the table, the average rates over 2012 have been included
for the comparative figures. They only relate to the conversion of participations of Cefetra, which per end 2012 are
no longer included in the consolidation.

Acquisitions 2013
Albert E. James & Son Ltd.
On 19 February 2013, BOCM PAULS acquired trading company Albert E. James & Son Ltd. in Bristol (UK). This trading
company has an annual sales of 12,000 tonnes of feed, including 10,500 tonnes of bulk feed. As a result of the acquisition, livestock farmers are now trading directly with BOCM PAULS, thus minimising the costs of the supply chain.
Dealer activities in the pig sector
During 2013, the dealer activities in the pig sector in the Netherlands have been integrated into the ForFarmers
Hendrix organisation.
The acquisitions in 2013 have been recorded in accordance with the purchase accounting method. The total
value of these acquisitions is € 3.8 million, and will be amortised over a period of 10 years. The full amount has
been recorded as goodwill, since the underlying customer databases were already incorporated with the Hendrix
acquisition in 2012.
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Acquisitions 2012
Where the specifications refer to changes as a result of 2012 acquisitions, it concerns the acquisitions of:
1.		 Hendrix
2.		 BOCM PAULS
The acquisitions in 2012 have been recorded in accordance with the purchase accounting method. The results
from the purchase accounting method included in 2012 were provisional and they were finalised in 2013. Positive
differences between the acquisition price and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities have been
capitalised as goodwill.
Re 1.
ForFarmers acquired the Nutreco feed activities in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany (hereinafter: 'Hendrix')
as per 1 April 2012. The transaction includes Hendrix UTD, Hendrix Broilers, Hendrix Haeck, Hendrix UTD GmbH,
Pavo, Reudink, Hedimix and Hendrix Illesch.
The transaction was done via the purchase of 100% of the shares in several companies. In addition, assets and
liabilities were acquired. The transaction was recorded in accordance with the purchase accounting method. The
purchase price amounted to € 92.5 million, including debts. The final goodwill is € 18.2 million (2012: provisional
goodwill of € 16.2 million) which will be amortised over a period of 20 years from the moment of acquisition.
Re 2.
ForFarmers acquired, as per 1 July 2012, Agricola Group Ltd., the ultimate parent company of BOCM PAULS and
holds 100% now of the shares in this company.
The transaction has been recorded in accordance with the purchase accounting method. The purchase price is
based on an enterprise value of € 89.5 million, after deducting the net provision for pensions (€ 40.1 million) and
a deferred payment for the net income from property intended for project development. The final goodwill is
€ 20.7 million (2012: provisional goodwill of € 18.6 million), which will be amortised over a period of 20 years from
the moment of acquisition.

Other acquisitions 2012
In the 2012 financial year, ForFarmers made several other smaller acquisitions, with a total acquisition value of
€ 5.1 million. A goodwill amount of € 1.4 million has been capitalised and will be amortised over a period of 10 years.

Disposals
Disposal Agrovision in 2013
On 4 June 2013, ForFarmers B.V., together with Agrifirm and Siva-producten, concluded an agreement with
CoMore B.V. concerning the sale of the shares in Agrovision B.V. The shares were transferred with retrospective
effect per 1 April 2013. The result from the sale has been recorded under ‘Share in results from associates’.
The transaction result is net € 1.6 million.

Annual report 2013 - ForFarmers B.V.

93

Disposal of Cefetra in 2012
On 27 September 2012, ForFarmers B.V. concluded an agreement with BayWa AG concerning the sale of the shares
in the associate Cefetra B.V. The shares were transferred as per year-end, which means that from the end of 2012,
ForFarmers B.V. no longer has a controlling interest in Cefetra B.V.
As a result, the balance sheet of Cefetra B.V. is not included in the consolidated financial statements 2012. In the
consolidated profit and loss account, the results of Cefetra B.V. are included up to the date when ForFarmers
ceased to have a controlling interest. This means that the results of Cefetra B.V. are included in the consolidated
results for the whole of 2012. The transaction result has been recorded in the profit and loss account under
'Share in results from associates'.
The share of ForFarmers (57.7%) in the result of Cefetra over 2012 was a net amount of € 2.7 million.
Disposal of Probroed in 2012
On 19 September 2012, ForFarmers B.V. concluded an agreement with Wimex B.V. concerning the sale of its Probroed
B.V. shares. The shares were transferred as per end of the year 2012. The result of the sale has been recorded under
'Share in results from associates'.
The transaction value is € 14.5 million of which ForFarmers’ share is € 4.8 million (33.4%).
Transaction result of participating interests 2012
The transaction result of the sold participating interests included in the financial statements, after deduction of
associated costs, is € 12.8 million.

Adjustments of goodwill
At the time of the 2012 acquisitions, a provisional assessment of the goodwill was done. This was finalised in 2013.
These adjustments led to a different estimate of the value of two factories, which turned out to have a lower value.
The effects of these adjustments are shown in the tables as 'Adjustments acquisitions 2012'.
2013
Tangible fixed assets
Deferred tax asset
Others
Total

4,090
993
911
5,994

Of this amount, € 2.9 million relates to the Hendrix transaction and € 3.1 million to the BOCM PAULS transaction.
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1. Intangible fixed assets

Book value beginning of 2012

Goodwill

Customer
database

Trade and
brand names

Total

-

-

-

-

Investments

-

640

-

640

Acquisitions

36,164

14,367

2,552

53,083

- 603

- 414

- 25

- 1,042

- 1,062

- 594

- 978

- 2,634

Book value beginning 2013

34,499

13,999

1,549

50,047

Adjustments acquisitions 2012

5,994

-

-

5,994

40,493

13,999

1,549

56,041

Acquisitions

3,808

-

-

3,808

Exchange rate differences

- 310

- 256

- 22

- 588

Exchange rate differences
Amortisation

Book value beginning of 2013
after adjustments

Re-classification
Amortisation
Book value end of 2013

-

705

- 705

-

- 2,475

- 1,936

- 538

- 4,949

41,516

12,512

284

54,312

36,164

15,007

2,552

53,723

1,062

594

978

2,634

45,966

15,712

1,847

63,525

3,537

2,530

1,516

7,583

Cumulative capitalised value
end of 2012
Cumulative amortisation
end of 2012
Cumulative capitalised value
end of 2013
Cumulative amortisation
end of 2013

Goodwill is amortised on a linear basis over the period in which the acquisition makes a positive contribution to
the result. That period may be longer than five years, depending on the strategic character of the acquisition.
The amortisation period does not exceed 20 years.
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2. Tangible fixed assets
Land and
buildings

Total

Book value beginning of 2012

26,580

23,747

13,945

2,694

6,321

73,287

Investments
Acquisitions
Sale of Cefetra
Transfers between asset classes
Exchange rate differences
Disposals
Depreciation

2,161
73,221
- 2,015
201
- 813
- 53
- 3,588

5,804
46,869
- 1,667
8,099
- 881
- 141
- 8,456

9,561
1,660
- 1,312
406
2
- 183
- 4,734

5,249
6,204
- 8,706
- 125
-

-7

22,775
127,954
- 4,994
- 1,817
- 377
- 16,785

Book value beginning of 2013

95,694

73,374

19,345

5,316

6,314

200,043

Adjustments acquisitions 2012

- 1,056

3,025-

-9

-

-

- 4,090

94,638

70,349

19,336

5,316

6,314

195,953

2,336
788

3,998
8,367

5,233
4,167

17,500
- 13,322

-

29,067
-

- 1,678
- 576
-9
- 3,622

- 550
- 33
- 10,090

- 70
- 386
- 5,143

- 88
-

1,678
- 2,062
-

- 1,284
- 428
- 2,062
- 18,855

Book value end of 2013

91,877

72,041

23,137

9,406

5,930

202,391

Cumulative capitalised value
end of 2012

146,615

185,453

58,935

5,316

6,974

403,293

50,921

112,079

39,590

-

660

203,250

Cumulative capitalised value
end of 2013

145,913

191,929

59,751

9,406

8,652

415,651

Cumulative depreciation
end of 2013

54,036

119,888

36,614

-

2,722

213,260

Book value beginning of 2013
after adjustments
Investments
Transfers between asset classes
Changes in Other non-current
assets
Exchange rate differences
Disposals
Impairments
Depreciation

Cumulative depreciation
end of 2012
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Plant
Other
Assets Other noncurrent
and operating under conmachinery
assets struction fixed assets

The 'Other non-current fixed assets' have been valued by an independent expert or are valued based on third
party offers. This category includes, among others, an industrial site in Oss. That site was purchased with the aim
of building a new factory for compound feed. Through the acquisition of Hendrix in 2012, ForFarmers now has
production capacity in the south of the Netherlands. As a result, there will be no investment in a new factory
and the land will sold in the future.
As part of the acquisition of BOCM PAULS, it was agreed with the former shareholders that they are entitled to the
proceeds from the sale of a number of locations currently classified as 'Other non-current assets'. All rights and
obligations arising from the sale are attributable to the former shareholders. As a consequence, these assets are
not valued on the balance sheet.
Per end of 2013, there are no commitments related to investments.
Regarding securities granted, we refer to paragraph 'Mortgage-backed securities and rights of distraint' under note 18.

3. Financial fixed assets: investments in associated companies
Book value at beginning of financial year
Deconsolidation Cefetra
Disposals
Share in results from associates
Dividend received
Book value at end of financial year

2013

2012

2,072

8,614

- 142
187
- 1,405

- 3,307
- 4,588
1,441
- 88

712

2,072

The disposal in 2013 concerns the sale of Agrovision in June 2013. The disposal in 2012 concerns the sale of Probroed
as per year end 2012.
A statutory reserve is held for the unappropriated share of the results of these participating interests.
A list of participations is given on page 125.

4. Financial fixed assets: receivables
Receivables

Deferred taxes

Total

Book value at beginning of financial year

11,387

19,113

30,500

Repayments/Usage
Addition
Re-classification deferred taxes*
Exchange rate differences
Amount due within one year

- 3,940
446
- 2,390

- 4,080
2,417
- 2,203
- 278
-

- 8,020
2,863
- 2,203
- 278
- 2,390

Book value at end of financial year

5,503

14,969

20,472

* This item consists of the re-classification, the adjustment of goodwill and a re-classification to current tax as further explained in note 29.
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The receivables balance includes an amount of € 2.5 million (discounted) for loans granted to (former) employees.
The nominal amount of the receivables is € 3.1 million (2012: € 6.3 million) and are partially interest-bearing. The level
of interest is equal to the interest on Dutch state loans, but at least equal to the interest referred to in Article 59 of
the Wages & Salaries Tax Implementing Regulation 2001. The repayment of the loan is a minimum of 7.5% per
annum starting from 2015. As a security for the obligations, a right of distraint was established on the certificates
purchased with the loan amount, the market value of which per balance sheet date exceeds the balance of the
loans. The loan to the (former) board of directors has a nominal value of € 2.0 million (discounted € 2.0 million)
and has become interest-bearing per 1 January 2014. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the full amount was
repaid. This loan has been recorded under short-term receivables.
The remaining balance of € 3.0 million consists of loans to customers with a term of longer than 1 year. For these
loans, securities have been established in the form of feed-equivalents, participation accounts and farm animals
A further comment on the deferred tax asset is found in note 29.

5. Stocks
Raw materials
Finished product
Trading stocks
Total

2013

2012

77,862
11,447
10,668

83,593
16,142
11,701

99,977

111,436

A provision for obsolete stock has been deducted for € 232 thousand (2012: € 181 thousand).
For important procurement commitments, see the explanatory notes concerning off-balance sheet rights and
liabilities.

6. Trade receivables
Trade receivables
Provision for bad debts
Total

2013

2012

243,070
- 20,615

247,853
- 8,216

222,455

239,637

During 2013, an extra addition to the provision for bad debts has been taken, concerning among others a major
debtor in the UK. The movement in the provision for bad debts can be represented as follows:

Balance at beginning of financial year
Sale of Cefetra
Impairments
Additions
Balance at end of financial year
98

2013

2012

8,216

4,971

- 1,817
14,216

- 1,066
- 1,158
5,469

20,615

8,216

7. Receivables from group companies
This concerns a receivable which ForFarmers has against its parent company Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. for the
amount of € 870 thousand (2012: € 694 thousand).

8. Taxes and social security
Corporation tax
VAT
Total

2013

2012

447
7,031

4,611
5,503

7,478

10,114

2013

2012

13,537
5,468

90,053
1,143

19,005

91,196

For a more detailed explanation concerning corporation tax, see note 29.

9. Other receivables and current assets
Other receivables
Accruals
Total

The decrease in the receivables is primarily due to the settlement of the receivable against BayWa Dutch Agrico B.V.
(part of the BayWa group) in 2013. This is the amount still to be settled per end of 2012 in relation to the sale of the
participating interest in Cefetra B.V. , which was received early 2013.

10. Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Current bank accounts
Total

2013

2012

48,107
98,733

40,520
40,396

146,840

80,916

The outstanding deposits have an initial term of 3 to 6 months and can be withdrawn directly.
The cash & cash equivalents are freely available to the company.
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11. Equity
The specification of the movement in the different equity elements can be represented as follows:
2013
Share capital
Balance at beginning & end of financial year
106,261

2012
106,261

Share premium reserve
Balance at beginning & end of financial year

38,356

38,356

Statutory reserves*
Balance at beginning of financial year
Release through dividend distribution
Addition from profit appropriation previous year
Sale of participating interest
Transfer from other reserves

4,938
- 3,864
3,680
- 951
391

5,749
- 3,480
2,669
-

4,194

4,938

- 203

- 418

- 411
- 958

278
- 63
-

- 1,572

- 203

Balance at beginning of financial year
Transfer statutory reserves and reserve for
exchange rate differences
Sale/(Purchase) of own shares
Addition from profit appropriation previous year
Actuarial results
Adjustment tax rate

120,852

104,793

5,374
1,781
36,878
- 3,989
- 890

3,480
- 835
12,837
577
-

Balance at end of financial year

160,006

120,852

31,122

52,700

338,367

322,904

Balance at end of financial year
Reserve for exchange rate differences
Balance at beginning of financial year
Exchange rate differences on valuation of
participating interests
Disposal of group companies
Transfer from other reserves
Balance at end of financial year
Other reserves

Profit current financial year
Total equity at end of financial year

The proposed profit appropriation for the 2012 result was effectuated in 2013. This means that a dividend of
€ 12.2 million was paid out during 2013.
The balance of 'addition from profit appropriation previous year', and the 'dividend paid' equals the result of financial
year 2012.
Further explanation is included in the explanatory notes on the company financial statements (note 7).
* Concerns the statutory reserve subsidiaries
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12. Minority interest in group equity
2013

2012

Position at beginning of financial year

4,199

44,790

Sale of Cefetra
Acquisitions
Minority interests' share of dividend
Minority interests' share of financial result

- 360
489

- 43,604
38
- 299
3,274

4,328

4,199

Position at end of financial year

The minority interest per end of 2012 and 2013 concerns the minority interest in ForFarmers Thesing GmbH & Co KG
and in Leafield Feeds Ltd.

13. Provisions
Pensions

Restructuring

Deferred
taxes

Other

Total

2,063

Soil
decontamination
2,650

4,868

30

4,607

14,218

Acquisitions and sale Cefetra
Change in provisions
Paid
Exchange rate differences

64,200
- 1,432
- 16
- 1,766

1,944
- 579
-

18,856
211
- 267

90
-

1,993
66
-

85,049
879
- 595
- 2,033

Position beginning of 2013

65,854

1,395

20,863

2,740

6,666

97,518

Acquisitions and sales
Change in provisions
Paid
Re-classification deferred taxes*
Exchange rate differences

635
4,302
- 10,626
- 866

684
- 1,426
-

207
- 4,564
- 255

- 555
-9
-

1,045
- 376
- 113
2

1,680
4,262
- 12,174
- 4,564
- 1,119

Position end of 2013

59,299

653

16,251

2,176

7,224

85,603

Position beginning of 2012

* This item consists of a re-classification, the adjustment of the UK tax rate and others as explained in note 29.

It is expected that an amount of € 14.0 million of the provisions will be settled within one year and a further
€ 42.1 million over a period exceeding five years.
Pension provision
For an explanation of the pension provision, see the explanatory notes concerning pensions (note 19).
Restructuring provision
The restructuring provision was recognised for ForFarmers in the Netherlands in connection with the integration
of the activities of ForFarmers and Hendrix. The provision consists of the direct costs of the restructuring. The
remaining amount will be used to settle the commitments.
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Provision for deferred taxes
For an explanation of the provision for deferred tax, see the explanatory notes concerning taxes (note 29).
Provision for soil decontamination
The provision for soil decontamination relates to the unavoidable costs of cleaning polluted sites. The provision was
formed for the future costs of soil decontamination. The release in 2013 is the result of mainly the sale of real estate.
Other provisions
The other provisions relate to expected costs other than the above mentioned.

14. Non-current liabilities
Debts to credit
institutions

Investment
subsidy

Total

1,195

957

2,152

65,056
98,380
- 309
- 6,295
- 2,618

- 98
-

65,056
98,380
- 98
- 309
- 6,295
- 2,618

Position at beginning of 2013

155,409

859

156,268

Draw down of loan
Release investment subsidy
Redemptions
Redemption commitment next book year
Exchange rate differences

479
- 15,883
- 9,677
- 1,838

- 98
-

479
- 98
- 15,883
- 9,677
- 1,838

128,490

761

129,251

Position at beginning of 2012
Acquisitions
Draw down of loan
Release investment subsidy
Redemptions
Redemption commitment next book year
Exchange rate differences

Position at end of 2013

The terms of the debts vary from 2015 until 2020 inclusive. The interest rates vary between 1.1% and 5.5%.
The investment subsidy is released over the expected economic life of the asset for which the subsidy was granted.
For a further explanation of the non-current liabilities, see explanatory notes concerning credit facilities (note 18).
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The non-current liabilities can be represented by term as follows:
2012

>1 year

>5 year

Total

151,678
485

3,731
374

155,409
859

Total

152,163

4,105

156,268

2013

>1 year

>5 year

Total

126,561
388

1,929
373

128,490
761

126,949

2,302

129,251

Debts to credit institutions
Investment subsidy

Debts to credit institutions
Investment subsidy
Total

The fair value of the debts is equal to the nominal value because the interest on the debt is variable. The credit risk
has been taken into account here. Reference is made to note 18.

15. Debts to credit institutions
Debts to credit institutions
Redemption commitment long-term debts < 1 year
Total

2013

2012

17,422
9,677

24,363
6,295

27,099

30,658

The redemption commitments on the long-term debts to credit institutions consist of loans of ForFarmers B.V.
(€ 7.1 million), BOCM PAULS (€ 1.4 million), ForFarmers Finance International BvbA (€ 0.7 million) and HaBeMa
(€ 0.5 million).
For a further explanation, see the explanatory notes concerning credit facilities (note 18).

16. Taxes and social security
Corporation tax
VAT
Payroll tax and social security
Total

2013

2012

4,033
1,173
5,439

4,149
3,343
3,436

10,645

10,928

See note 29 for a more detailed explanation of the fiscal position.
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17. Other current liabilities
2013

2012

Other liabilities
Accruals

46,910
30,764

45,612
42,928

Total

77,674

88,540

18. Credit facilities
In 2012, ForFarmers concluded a financing agreement (term- and revolving facilities agreement) with ABN AMRO
Bank and Rabobank. The agreement expires on 31 March 2017. The maximum amount of the loan is € 120 million,
€ 64.0 million of which was used as per balance sheet date. The interest on the loan is based on Euribor plus a
margin of 1.0% to 2.4%. The margin depends on the adjusted ratio between net interest-bearing debt and
EBITDA (leverage ratio; maximum 3.5) and an interest coverage ratio (minimum 2.6).
ForFarmers complies with all conditions of the agreements as per 31 December 2013.
For the first three years (until 31 March 2015), the variable part of the interest (Euribor) has been converted, by means
of an interest rate swap, to a fixed interest rate of 1.095%, plus the supplements detailed above. The nominal value
of this swap decreases from € 70 million to € 56 million in line with the redemption schedule.
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2017, the variable part of the interest has been converted, by means
of an interest rate swap, to a fixed interest rate of 2.13%, plus the supplements detailed above. The nominal value
of this swap decreases from € 32.4 million to € 24 million in line with the repayment schedule. The fair value of
the swaps as per 31 December 2013 is negative € 1.3 million (31 December 2012: negative € 2.0 million).
The swap has been fully effective since inception and there are no cash-collateral obligations. For the details
of the financing agreement, see the explanation under off-balance sheet liabilities.
In 2011, BOCM PAULS concluded a financing agreement with Lloyds Banking Group. The agreement expires per
31 December 2015 and partially per April 2019. The maximum amount of the loan is € 103.1 million (£ 86.0 million),
of which € 70.0 million (£ 58.4 million) was used as per balance sheet date.
The variable interest on the loan is Libor plus 1.95% to 2.50%. The interest has, by means of interest rate swaps, been
fixed to 0.79% for the period till September 2015, with a nominal amount of € 48 million (£ 40 million). The fair value
of the swaps as per 31 December 2013 is negative € 0.016 million. (31 December 2012: negative € 0.255 million). The
swap has been fully effective since inception.
HaBeMa has concluded financing agreements with HSH Nordbank AG, HypoVereinsbank AG and Bremer Landesbank
Kreditanstalt. The amount of the loans is € 2.5 million. The variable interest ranges between 2.45% and 5.25%.
By means of an interest rate swap of € 0.5 million, HaBeMa has fixed the interest on the debt to credit institutions
at 4.3% for the period till March 2016. The fair value of the swap as per 31 December 2013 is negative € 0.04 million
(31 December 2012: negative € 0.04). The swap has been fully effective since inception.
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Mortgage-backed securities and rights of restraint
ForFarmers B.V. (and its subsidiaries) has provided the following securities against obligations related to loans and
credit facilities:
Rabobank and ABN AMRO Bank:
• mortgage-backed security for a total amount of € 170.4 million;
• mandate mortgage on the real estate in Izegem, Belgium;
• first right of restraint on the shares in ForFarmers Hendrix B.V.;
• first right of restraint on the machinery, stock and (trade) receivables;
• right of restraint on the tangible fixed assets of ForFarmers Langförden GmbH;
• right of restraint on the bank accounts of ForFarmers GmbH and ForFarmers Langförden GmbH;
• right of restraint on the receivables of ForFarmers Langförden GmbH.
Lloyds Banking Group:
• mortgage-backed security on the tangible fixed assets of BOCM PAULS;
• right of restraint on receivables of BOCM PAULS.
HaBeMa's assets have been provided as security for the financing agreements entered into by HaBeMa.

19. Pensions
The pension plans of the Dutch consolidated companies are defined-contribution plans, which are administered
by insurance companies by means of collective defined-contribution contracts. This means that these group
companies are liable only for the agreed contributions to the insurance companies.
The German group companies have, for a limited number of people, an in-house defined-benefit scheme.
The pension obligation is recorded in a provision, which contains the sum of the following items:
• the present value of the committed pension rights as per balance sheet date;
• plus or minus the actuarial results not yet recorded in the results as per balance sheet date;
• minus the expenses to be allocated to future financial years regarding previous years of employment.
In the United Kingdom, a defined-benefit plan existed until 30 September 2006. A provision has been recorded in
the consolidated balance sheet for the obligations under this plan. The accrued pension assets have been valued
at current value. The obligations have been calculated on the basis of actuarial calculations, with discounting at
the applicable discount rate. Actuarial results are recorded directly into equity as a change in the other reserves
and are consequently presented in the other comprehensive income.
As per 1 October 2006, the UK scheme mentioned above was closed, so that no new obligations are being incurred.
From that date, a new plan exists on the basis of defined contribution. The obligations under that plan are administered by an insurance company.
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Pension provisions
Specification of pension provision

UK
The Netherlands
Germany
Total

2013

2012

42,967
10,825
5,507

49,478
10,980
5,396

59,299

65,854

Pension provision in UK
The pension obligations in the UK have been calculated on the basis of actuarial principles, using the ‘projected
unit credit’ method, and have been discounted at 4.6%. The net deficit after adjustment for deferred taxes is
shown separately.
The BOCM PAULS pension scheme has been closed since 30 September 2006, which means that no new obligations
are being incurred.
The most important assumptions for the actuarial calculation, the current value of the plan assets, a specification
of the assets per asset category, the current value of the obligations and the surplus/deficit compared with the
value of the assets are given below:
Basic assumptions
Inflation
Discount rate
Pension increase (2.5-5.0% Limited Price Indexation)
Salary increase

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

3.3%
4.6%
2.2% - 3.2%
n/a

2.9%
4.5%
2.0% - 2.8%
n/a

Based on the assumptions on mortality, the average life expectancy is 85.7 years for men and 88.1 years for women.
Specification of plan assets & expected return

Shares
Funds
Real estate
Index-related bonds
Bonds
Cash and other assets
Other
Total
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31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Return
7.1%
7.1%
7.1%
3.6%
4.6%
3.6%

Current
Value
37,304
22,632
8,996
3,958
30,706
10,315
9,923

Return
7.1%
6.6%
6.6%
3.1%
4.5%
3.1%

Current
Value
31,676
15,165
9,817
14,860
28,561
3,165
10,213

5.85%

123,834

5.85%

113,457

Balance sheet
Current value of plan assets
Current value of obligations
Gross deficit
Deferred taxes
Net deficit

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

123,834
- 166,801

113,457
- 162,935

- 42,967
9,023

- 49,478
11,380

- 33,944

- 38,098

From the date of acquisition, an amount of € 10.8 million was paid into the pension plan in 2013
(2012: € 0.66 million). Future additions will be based on future actuarial calculations.
The movement in the gross deficit can be represented as follows:
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Deficit at beginning of financial year
Deficit at acquisition date
Financial income and expenses
Additions
Actuarial result
Exchange rate differences

49,478
- 330
- 10,802
4,879
- 258

52,669
5
- 664
- 750
- 1,782

Deficit at end of financial year

42,967

49,478

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

6,577
- 6,907

7,288
- 7,283

- 330

5

Breakdown of financial income and expenses
Return on plan assets
Interest pension obligations
Total

It is expected that € 0.374 million of the pension provisions will be settled within one year, and a further
€ 50.1 million will be settled over a period exceeding five years.
German pension provision
The pension provision in Germany has been calculated on the basis of the following actuarial principles:
Discount rate				
Pension increase				
Accounting principles for calculation

3.46%
1.5%
Heubeck 2005G

The in-house pension provision amounts to € 5.5 million. The expected term of the obligations is more than
5 years. No separate assets have been made available for this pension obligation.
Dutch pension provision
In the Netherlands, a provision has been recorded for future pension obligations resulting from the Hendrix acquisition.
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20. Off-balance sheet rights and liabilities
Securities/guarantees
• Securities and bank guarantees have been issued for the procurement of trading stock and for financing of
companies. The securities and guarantees issued amount to € 4.7 million;
• On behalf of ForFarmers Netherlands B.V., a declaration of guarantee based on article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil
Code has been issued by ForFarmers B.V.;
• On behalf of ForFarmers Hendrix B.V., a declaration of guarantee based on article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code
has been issued by ForFarmers Netherlands B.V.;
• For the acquisition of BOCM PAULS, guarantees have been issued amounting to € 1.2 million.
Rent and lease agreements
As per end of 2013, the total amount of long-term liabilities was € 15.9 million. The amount becoming due in 2014
is € 3.0 million. The amount of liabilities over a period exceeding five years is € 6.7 million.
Procurement commitments
As per end of 2013, the total amount of off-balance sheet procurement commitments relating to raw materials was
€ 128.3 million. Of this amount, € 126.9 million relates to deliveries in 2014.
For IT maintenance, there is an off-balance sheet contract commitment of € 1.0 million for the year 2014.

21. Financial instruments
The details included in these explanatory notes provide information which is helpful in assessing the extent of risks
associated both with the financial instruments included and those not included in the balance sheet.
ForFarmers’ primary financial instruments, other than derivatives, serve to finance ForFarmers’ operating activities
or result directly from these activities. ForFarmers also enters into derivatives transactions, particularly interest
rate swaps, in order to cover the interest rate risk arising from its operating and financing activities. ForFarmers’
policy is not to trade in financial instruments.
The main risks arising from ForFarmers’ financial instruments are the credit risk, the liquidity risk, the cash flow risk
and price risk, consisting of currency, interest and market risks.
Credit risk
Credit risks can arise if contract partners of ForFarmers, such as suppliers or customers, fail to meet their contractual
obligations. Contract partners are assessed against a number of criteria. Additional arrangements are made where
required, including the provision of additional securities. Risks are insured if necessary and feasible. Proper fulfilment of obligations and developments affecting contract partners are monitored closely. The credit risks in the
pig and poultry sectors have in the last few years increased due to the difficult market conditions. ForFarmers
contacts contract partners at an early stage when credit and liquidity risks are on the increase.
Liquidity risk
The risk ForFarmers has that future cash flows linked to a monetary financial instrument will fluctuate in amount is
minimal. In spite of the long-term liabilities being on variable interest rates, the liquidity risk has been minimalised
by means of swaps.
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Price risk
Currency risk
As a result of the acquisition of BOCM PAULS, ForFarmers’ balance sheet can be influenced by exchange rate differences between the British Pound and the Euro. ForFarmers’ policy is not to hedge these differences on the net
investment in foreign entities.
Interest risk
By means of interest rate swaps, part of the interest payable on debts to credit institutions has been fixed for
the next 5 years. This applies to an amount of € 64 million, which is part of the total financing of € 120 million of
ForFarmers B.V., and to the financing of BOCM PAULS at an amount of £ 40 million. ForFarmers’ policy is to hedge
interest risks partially. Documentation is drawn up per hedge instrument and ForFarmers applies cost price hedge
accounting. A more detailed explanation of the interest rate swaps is included in note 18.
For the other financial instruments, reference is made to the chapter on risk management and internal control on
page 62.
Fair value
The fair value of financial instruments, in the balance sheet as well as off-balance sheet, is as follows:
2013

2012

Book value

Fair value

Book value

Fair value

21,184

20,369

32,572

31,319

Receivables

249,808

249,808

341,641

341,641

Cash & cash equivalents

146,840

146,840

80,916

80,916

417,832

417,017

455,129

453,876

Long-term debts

129,251

124,280

156,268

150,258

Short-term debts

216,963

216,963

235,766

235,766

Total

346,214

341,243

392,034

386,024

Financial assets
Financial fixed assets

Total
Financial liabilities

Off-balance sheet
financial instruments
Interest rate swaps

- 1,360

- 2,295

Total

- 1,360

- 2,295
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The fair value of the financial instruments has been determined using available market information and estimation
methods. The following methods and assumptions have been used in the determination of the fair value of the
financial instruments:
Financial fixed assets
The fair value of the receivables under the financial fixed assets has been estimated based on the present value of
the future cash flows against the relevant market interest.
Cash, receivables and short-term debts
Given the short term of these instruments, the book value is close to the market value.
Long-term debts
The market value of the long-term debts has been estimated based on the present value of the future cash flows
against the relevant market interest.
Interest rate swaps
The market value of these financial instruments consists of the amount that the company would receive or pay in
order to settle these contracts.

22. Turnover
The geographic distribution of the turnover can be represented as follows:
2013

Pro forma 2012

2012

1,053,352
576,973
237,078
727,304
28,939
1,245

1,047,908
586,629
245,368
656,417
27,817
131

2,145,407
1,272,367
675,702
1,061,131
1,041,736
420,980

2,624,891

2,564,270

6,617,323

2013

Pro forma 2012

2012

Compound feed
Other turnover

2,176,951
447,940

2,062,937
501,333

1,638,817
387,579

Total ForFarmers

2,624,891

2,564,270

2,026,396

-

-

4,590,927

2,624,891

2,564,270

6,617,323

The Netherlands
Germany
Belgium
UK
Other EU countries
Other countries outside the EU
Total

The distribution of turnover by category can be represented as follows.

Agricultural raw materials (Cefetra)
Total ForFarmers including Cefetra

The above table shows a decrease in turnover by € 4 billion as a result of the sale of Cefetra.
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The turnover of ForFarmers increased by 2.4% against the Pro forma 2012 figures. The turnover in the Netherlands
and Germany shows a mixed picture. The volume of compound feed in the ruminant sector went up. The volume
in the pig sector went down, as a result of a decrease in the number of animals on the farms.
In the UK, the demand for compound feed was high in 2013, especially in the ruminant and pig sector. In Belgium,
the increase was also made in those two sectors.
The 2013 turnover in UK at constant exchange rate is € 775 million.

23. Gross Profit
The gross profit in 2013 decreased by € 13.4 million against Pro forma 2012 (at constant exchange rate: € 7.5 million).
This results from a volume decrease in especially the Netherlands and pressure on the margin especially in Germany
and Belgium. Additionally, there was an extraordinary purchasing result in 2012.
The operating income against 2012 increased from € 342 million to € 387 million (13.2%), because of the acquisitions
and divestments in 2012.

24. Personnel expenses
Salaries
Social security expenses
Pension and early retirement expenses
Total ForFarmers
Cefetra
Total ForFarmers including Cefetra

2013

Pro forma 2012

2012

103,350
14,208
6,908

105,269
14,979
9,189

78,182
11,223
7,109

124,466

129,437

96,514

-

-

13,299

124,466

129,437

109,813

The personnel expenses 2012 excluding the sold Cefetra activities are € 95.8 million. This increase is primarily due
to the acquisitions of Hendrix (per 1 April 2012) and BOCM PAULS (per 1 July 2012), which are included for the full
year in 2013.
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Total number of employees at end of financial year
Converted to fulltime-equivalent
2013

2012

1,153
715
346

1,366
591
237

2,214

2,194

Movement per year

2013

2012

Beginning of financial year
Acquisitions
Sale of Cefetra

2,194
-

884
1,566
- 216

2,194

2,234

237
- 217

138
- 178

2,214

2,194

Logistics
Commercial
Other

Joiners
Leavers
End of financial year

Of the number of employees indicated, 1,386 employees worked outside of the Netherlands (2012: 1,342).
They worked for the departments logistics (898), commercial (326) and other (162).
Remuneration
In 2013 the remuneration of the (former) members of the Supervisory Board was € 204 thousand (2012: € 222 thousand).
The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board for 2013 includes an amount of € zero for crisis tax which the
group owes the tax authorities for the financial year 2013 (2012: € zero)
Regarding the remuneration of the Board of Directors, the company made use of the exemption from having to
disclose the remuneration of directors based on Section 383(1) of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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25. Depreciation
Tangible fixed assets
Impairment of tangible fixed assets
Goodwill and other intangible fixed assets
Total ForFarmers
Cefetra
Total ForFarmers including Cefetra

2013

2012

18,855
2,062
4,949

15,726
2,634

25,866

18,360

-

1,060

25,866

19,420

The depreciation on the goodwill and other intangible fixed assets relates to the 2012 acquisitions. The different
categories of intangible fixed assets were identified and valued on the basis of the purchase accounting method.
The amount for tangible fixed assets also includes an amount in connection with the revaluation of the assets
following the acquisitions. The impairment concerns assets not used for operations.

26. Other operating expenses
Repair & maintenance
Vehicles
Third party freight expenses
Sales expenses
Other personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Total ForFarmers
Cefetra
Total ForFarmers including Cefetra

2013

2012

54,980
29,158
41,500
8,311
21,485
45,755

41,277
22,840
36,436
6,438
13,554
31,238

201,189

151,783

-

5,979

201,189

157,762

The main differences in the other operating expenses are due to the acquisitions of Hendrix (per 1 April 2012) and
BOCM PAULS (per 1 July 2012).
The auditors’ and consultancy fees recorded in the financial statements can be specified as follows:
2013

2012

Audit of financial statements by
Ernst & Young Accountants LLP
Consultancy services EY
Audit of financial statements by other auditors
Consultancy services from other auditors

596

1,003

211
15
43

1,155
162
55

Total

865

2,375
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27. Interest income
2013

2012

25
2,602

22
2,785

2,627

2,807

2013

2012

6
4,901

7
4,469

4,907

4,476

Interest expenses third parties at Cefetra

-

5,793

Total ForFarmers including Cefetra

4,907

10,269

Interest income associated parties
Interest income third parties
Total

28. Interest expenses
Interest expenses associated parties
Interest expenses third parties
Total ForFarmers

The increase in the interest expenses is the result of a full year’s financing at ForFarmers for the Hendrix acquisition.
The interest expenses also increased as a result of the consolidation of the BOCM PAULS interest expenses over
12 months (versus 6 months in 2012).
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29. Taxes
In 2013, the effective tax rate is 26.4% of the result before tax (2012: 19.0%).
The deviation from the 25% nominal tax rate in the Netherlands is mainly caused by differences in tax rates in the
countries in which companies of ForFarmers are based and the share of the transaction result in the total result.
2013

2012

42,944
- 1,795

69,107
- 13,427

41,149

55,680

Reconciliation tax rate
Standard corporation tax 25%
Share in results from associates
Innovation tax credits (Innovatiebox)
Difference non-deductible costs
Other differences

10,736
- 449
- 825
1,629
242

17,277
- 3,357
- 1,109
453
67

Total ForFarmers

11,333

13,331

-

- 198

11,333

13,133

26.4%

19.0%

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liability

19,113

20,863

2,417
- 4,080
- 278
- 2,973
- 993
1,763
-

1,170
- 963
- 255
- 2,973
- 1,378
- 213

14,969

16,251

Result on ordinary operating activities before taxes
Share in results from associates

Cefetra
Total ForFarmers including Cefetra
Effective tax rate
The current tax burden is € 9.4 million.
The movement in deferred taxes is as follows:

Book value at beginning of financial year 2013
Additions
Usage
Exchange rate differences
Reclassification
Adjustment goodwill
Reclassification to current tax
Adjustment UK tax rate
Others
Book value at end of financial year 2013

The main components of the deferred tax liabilities are the pension obligation in the UK and the consequences of
the fair value adjustments of the assets and liabilities following the acquisitions.
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30. Share in results from associates
Transaction result on sale of associates
Other participating interests
Result participations Cefetra
Total

2013

2012

1,608
187
-

12,805
393
229

1,795

13,427

31. Minority interest
This concerns the share in the company result of the minority shareholders in the subsidiaries ForFarmers Thesing
(40%) and Leafield Feeds Ltd. (24%).

32. Related parties
The related party transactions that occurred in 2013 were done at arm’s length. The members of the Supervisory
Board and members of the membership council of Coöperatie FromFarmers U.A. did not experience any impediment in the performance of their duties during the past year as a result of transactions that they conducted.
The loan to the former Statutory Board of Directors and employees, as described in note 4, were granted on the
basis of the relevant policy approved by the Supervisory Board. The loan to the former Statutory Board of Directors
became interest-bearing as per 1 January 2014 and was repaid early January 2014.
As part of the acquisition of BOCM PAULS, it was agreed with the former shareholders that they are entitled to the
proceeds from the sale of a number of locations currently classified as 'Other non-current assets'. All rights and
obligations arising from the sale are attributable to the former shareholders, of whom one person currently is
a member of the Board of Directors of ForFarmers B.V. These assets are not valued on the balance sheet.

33. Subsequent events
Acquisition of HST Feeds Ltd.
ForFarmers has acquired 100% of the share capital of HST Feeds Ltd. per 3 February 2014. HST Feeds Ltd. is based
in Crewe (UK) and sells approximately 140,000 tonnes of ruminant and poultry compound feed to customers
throughout the North West of England. HST Feeds Ltd. will operate within BOCM PAULS, the UK Business Unit of
ForFarmers. The price paid is based on an enterprise value of € 15 million, including cash & cash equivalents.
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Explanatory notes to
the cash flow statement
General principles
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash flows in foreign currencies
have been recorded against the transaction rate. Exchange differences for cash and cash equivalents are shown
separately in the cash flow statement. Receipts and payments for interest, dividends received and corporate taxes
have been included under cash flow from operating activities. Dividends paid have been included under cash
flow from financing activities. Transactions not involving an exchange of cash, including financial lease, are not
included in the cash flow statement. The payment of lease instalments under the financial lease contract are shown
as a cash-out under financing activities as far as the repayment is concerned and as a cash-out under operating
activities as far as the interest is concerned.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow from operating activities in 2013 amounts to € 55.4 million positive (2012: € 48.2 million positive).
The increase in operating cash flow is mainly caused by a decrease in stocks.
The cash flow from investment activities in 2013 amounts to € 49.7 million positive (2012: € 160.0 million negative).
The investment cash flow in 2012 contains an amount of € 130.8 million related to the acquisitions. The receivable
of € 77.5 million from the participation sold has been received in 2013.
The cash flow from financing activities in 2013 amounts to € 38.8 million negative (2012: € 111.4 million positive).
Because of the acquisitions of 2012 and potential future acquisitions, ForFarmers concluded a credit facility with
ABN AMRO Bank and Rabobank. Further details are given in note 18 of the explanatory notes to the consolidated
balance sheet and profit & loss account. In 2013, ForFarmers used an amount of € 64.0 million out of this facility.
BOCM PAULS concluded a credit facility with Lloyds Banking Group in 2011 for the financing of its activities.
Per end of 2013, BOCM PAULS used an amount of € 70.0 million out of this facility.
The remainder of the receipts from long-term debts and bank credit is caused by the movement in short-term
debts to credit institutions.
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Company financial statements
Company balance sheet
(before appropriation of results)
In € x 1,000
ASSETS

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

2,293

1,711

2,293

1,711

8,205
39

5,010
39

(2)

8,244

5,049

(3)
(4)

351,196
-

324,182
10,051
429

351,196

334,662

361,733

341,422

82,779
22,530
1,214

47,008
15,899
75,623

106,523

138,530

57,165

34,315

163,688

172,845

525,421

514,267

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Tangible fixed assets
Other operating assets
Non-current assets

Financial fixed assets
Investments in associated companies
Receivables from group companies
Other

(1)

Total fixed assets
Current assets
Receivables
Receivables from group companies
Taxes and social security
Other receivables and current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS
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(4)
(5)
(6)

In € x 1,000
LIABILITIES

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

106,261
38,356
4,194
- 1,572
160,006
31,122

106,261
38,356
4,938
- 203
120,852
52,700

338,367

322,904

4,156

2,268

4,156

2,268

49,600

64,257

49,600

64,257

233
123,180
781
7,086
2,018

514
79,804
43,161
1,359

133,298

124,838

525,421

514,267

EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Statutory reserves
Reserve for exchange rate differences
Other reserves
Profit after tax current financial year
Equity

(7)

PROVISIONS
Other provisions

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Debts to credit institutions

(8)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Debts to group companies
Taxes and social security
Debts to credit institutions
Other current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

(4)
(8)
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Company profit and loss account
In € x 1,000

120

2013

2012

Result excluding the share in results from
associates, after tax
Share in results from associates

- 3,408
34,530

10,772
41,928

Result after tax

31,122

52,700

Accounting principles and explanatory
notes to the company balance sheet
and profit and loss account
General
For the accounting principles and explanatory notes to the company balance sheet and profit and loss account,
reference is made to the accounting principles and explanatory notes to the consolidated balance sheet and profit
and loss account.
Book 2, part 402 of the Dutch Civil Code has been applied to the company profit and loss account.
All amounts are stated in € x 1,000 unless stated otherwise.

1. Intangible fixed assets
Book value at beginning of financial year
Acquisitions
Amortisation
Book value at end of financial year

2013

2012

1,711

-

680
- 98

1,800
- 89

2,293

1,711

The acquisitions concern a part of the goodwill from the acquisitions of Hendrix and BOCM PAULS in 2012,
including the goodwill adjustments that came forward at the final goodwill assessment in 2013.
For further information, reference is made to note 1 of the consolidated balance sheet.

2. Tangible fixed assets
2013

2012

5,049

39

Investments
Disposals
Depreciation

4,456
- 1,261

5,010
-

Book value at end of financial year

8,244

5,049

Book value at beginning of financial year

The investments concern mainly items related to IT and infrastructure.
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3. Financial fixed assets: participating interests
Group
companies

Investment in
associated
companies

Total

Book value at beginning of 2012

251,687

4,778

256,465

Acquisitions
Equity payment
Disposals
Share in results from associates
Actuarial results
Exchange rate differences associates
Dividend received
Other changes

55,750
38,800
- 57,941
41,111
577
428
- 7,620
- 78

- 3,556
817
- 571
-

55,750
38,800
- 61,497
41,928
577
428
- 8,191
- 78

Book value at beginning of 2013

322,714

1,468

324,182

Acquisitions
Equity payment
Disposals
Share in results from associates
Exchange rate differences associates
Actuarial results
Adjustment tax rate
Other changes

1,000
32,790
- 411
- 3,989
- 890
- 18

42
- 3,250
1,740
-

1,042
- 3,250
34,530
- 411
- 3,989
- 890
- 18

351,196

-

351,196

Book value at end of 2013

4. Receivables from and debts to group companies
The receivables from and debts to group companies are of a short-term nature.

5. Taxes and social security
The balance of tax & premiums receivable relates specifically to a corporation tax claim amounting to € 19.9 million
(2012: € 13.7 million).
The company and the Dutch subsidiaries in which the company has a 100% interest form a fiscal group for
the purposes of corporation tax. Settlement of taxes within this fiscal group takes place as if each company is
independently liable for tax.

6. Other receivables and current assets
The other receivables and current assets are of a short-term nature. The decrease of the receivable is due mainly to
the receipt from the disposals of Cefetra and Probroed.
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7. Equity
At per end of the financial year, the shareholders’ capital consists of 106,261,040 shares with a nominal value of
€ 1.00 per share. The ForFarmers B.V. shares are owned by Stichting Administratiekantoor ForFarmers, which has
issued share certificates.
Share premium reserve
The share premium reserve consists of the positive difference between the issue price and the nominal value
of the shares issued.
Other reserves
The other reserves are the freely distributable reserves. Purchase of own shares is charged to the other reserves,
as is income from sales of own shares. No dividend is paid on own shares that were purchased.
At per end of 2013, ForFarmers owned a balance 466,392 share certificates (2012: 1,006,100 certificates). These
shares were bought through the Amsterdams Effectenkantoor (until 1.7.2012) and SNS Securities (from 4.7.2012),
who act as liquidity providers in the trading platform (where the share certificates of ForFarmers B.V. can be
traded). Within the framework of the agreement, the liquidity provider operates on the trading platform
independently of ForFarmers B.V., but at the latter’s risk and expense.
Statutory reserve subsidiaries
The statutory reserve subsidiaries contains the unappropriated results and direct equity movements from the
participating interests. Since ForFarmers B.V. does not have a majority control over the distribution of dividends,
the undistributed result from participating interests, which are not from group companies, must be added to
the statutory subsidiaries reserves.
Reserve for exchange rate differences
The ‘Reserve for exchange rate differences’ is a statutory reserve. Per balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities
of foreign operations are converted into ForFarmers’ presentation currency (Euro) at the rate of that date, and the
gains and losses in the profit and loss account are converted at the average rate for the year. The resulting exchange
rate differences are recorded directly in the statutory reserve ‘Reserve for exchange rate differences’. When the
foreign operation is sold, the relevant cumulative amount of the exchange rate differences included in the equity
is recorded in the profit and loss account as part of the result on sale.
For a breakdown of equity, see the explanatory notes to the consolidated balance sheet and profit and loss
account (note 11).
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8. Credit facilities
In 2012, ForFarmers concluded a financing agreement (term- and revolving facilities agreement) with ABN AMRO
Bank and Rabobank. The agreement expires on 31 March 2017. The maximum amount of the loan is € 120 million,
€ 64.0 million of which was used as per balance sheet date. The interest on the loan is based on Euribor plus a
margin of 1.0% to 2.4%. The margin depends on the adjusted ratio between net interest-bearing debt and EBITDA
(leverage ratio; maximum 3.5) and an interest coverage ratio (minimum 2.6).
ForFarmers complies with all conditions of the agreements as per 31 December 2013.
For the first three years (until 31 March 2015), the variable part of the interest (Euribor) has been converted,
by means of an interest rate swap, to a fixed interest rate of 1.095%, plus the supplements detailed above.
The nominal value of this swap decreases from € 70 million to € 56 million in line with the redemption schedule.
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2017, the variable part of the interest has been converted, by means
of an interest rate swap, to a fixed interest rate of 2.13%, plus the supplements detailed above. The nominal value
of this swap decreases from € 32.4 million to € 24 million in line with the repayment schedule.

Off-balance sheet liabilities
Mortgage-backed securities and rights of restraint
A mortgage-backed security has been issued by ForFarmers B.V. for a total amount of € 168 million for obligations
related to loans and credit facilities. Plus a right of restraint on the machinery, stock and (trade) receivables.
Securities/guarantees
• On behalf of ForFarmers Netherlands B.V., a declaration of guarantee based on article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil
Code has been issued by ForFarmers B.V.;
• On behalf of ForFarmers Hendrix B.V., a declaration of guarantee based on article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code
has been issued by ForFarmers Netherlands B.V.;
• For the acquisition of BOCM PAULS, guarantees have been issued amounting to € 1.2 million.
Procurement commitments
For IT maintenance, there is an off-balance sheet contract commitment of € 1.0 million for the year 2014.
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Main group companies, joint ventures and other participating interests as per end of
the financial year
		

			
Registered
Interest
office

The Netherlands

ForFarmers Netherlands B.V.
FarmFeed Hedimix B.V.
FF Logistics B.V.
ForFarmers Hendrix B.V.
PoultryPlus B.V. (formerly Opfok De KuikenaeR B.V.)
Reudink B.V.
Stimulan B.V.

Lochem
Lochem
Lochem
Lochem
Lochem
Lochem
Boxmeer

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Vechta-Langförden
Vechta-Langförden
Rapshagen
Vechta-Langförden
Rees

100%
100%
87.5%
100%
60%

Hamburg
Beelitz
Goch
Goch

50%
100%
100%
100%

Ingelmunster
Ingelmunster

100%
100%

Ipswich, Suffolk
Ipswich, Suffolk
Ipswich, Suffolk
Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk
Ipswich, Suffolk
Wakefield

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
76%

Limassol, Cyprus

100%

Germany
ForFarmers GmbH
ForFarmers Langförden GmbH
ForFarmers BM GmbH (1)
ForFarmers Hamburg GmbH & Co. KG
ForFarmers Thesing Mischfutter GmbH & Co. KG
HaBeMa Futtermittel Produktions-und
Umschlagsgesellschaft GmbH & Co. KG (2)
Hendrix Illesch GmbH
Hendrix UTD GmbH
Pavo Pferdenährung GmbH

Belgium
ForFarmers Belgium BvbA
ForFarmers Finance International BvbA

United Kingdom
Agricola Group Ltd.
Agricola Holdings Ltd.
BOCM PAULS Ltd.
Dairy Direct Ltd.
ForFarmers UK Ltd.
Leafield Feeds Ltd.

Other countries
ForFarmers Finance Ltd.
(1)
(2)

The subsidiary ForFarmers BM GmbH has been consolidated for 100% because of the economic ownership
This joint venture is consolidated for 50%
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Signing of the financial statements
Lochem, 20 March 2014
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Board of Directors						

Supervisory Board

Mr. Y.M. Knoop, CEO					
							
							
							
							
							

Mr. J. Markink, Chairman
Mr. J.W. Eggink, Secretary/Vice-Chairman
Mrs. J.W. Addink-Berendsen
Mr. H. Mulder
Mr. H.J. Nordbeck
Mr. C.J.M. van Rijn

Other information
Appropriation of the result
The company’s articles of association contain the following provisions regarding the appropriation of the result.
Article 27 of the company’s articles of association provides as follows.
1. The general meeting decides on the appropriation of the profit.
2. The company is allowed to make distributions only insofar as its equity exceeds the sum of the paid-up and
called-up part of the issued capital plus the statutory reserves.
3. Distribution of profit can take place only after ratification of the financial statements, showing that the
payment is justified.
4. Shares or certificates held by the company and shares or certificates which the company has the use of are
not taken into account in calculating the profit allocation.
5. The general meeting can decide to make interim payments. A decision to pay an interim dividend from the
profit of the current financial year can also be made by the Board of Directors. Payments as meant in this
paragraph can be made only if the provision in paragraph two of this article is met.
6. Unless the general meeting decides on a different term, dividends are made available within thirty days after
being declared. The general meeting can decide to distribute dividends partially or fully in a form other than
cash.
7. A shortfall can be redeemed from the statutory reserves only if and insofar as it is legally permitted.
8. If the sum of the paid-up and called-up share of the capital and the statutory reserves is less than the most
recently determined statutory minimum-capital, the company must retain a reserve covering the balance.

Proposed appropriation of result after tax
A proposal is made to the general meeting to distribute the 2013 result as follows.

2013

2012

Addition to the statutory reserves
Dividend payment
Addition to the other reserves

5,374
14,408
11,340

3,680
12,142
37,455

Result after tax
Effect of change in accounting principles

31,122
-

53,277
- 577

Result after tax and change in accounting
principles

31,122

52,700

In € x 1,000

The effect of the change in accounting principles concerning pensions does not lead to an adjustment in the
appropriation of the 2012 result. This is further explained on page 81.
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The general meeting on 15 April 2014 will be requested to approve a proposal to pay out a dividend of € 0.13618
per share of € 1.00 nominal (2012: € 0.11535). This corresponds to a payout ratio of 50% of the normalised result
after taxation.
In December 2013, the dividend policy was adjusted to a payout ratio of between 40% to 50% of the normalised
result after taxes.
Underlying principle for the dividend policy of ForFarmers B.V. is to make available a dividend of between 40% and
50% of the result after tax, adjusted for extraordinary items (such as book profits, and taking into account tax) and
minus the difference between dividends received from non-consolidated interests and the dividend percentage
for the company as a whole.
This method takes into account the strategy and a healthy balance sheet structure.
Within these principles, ForFarmers B.V. aims for a stable development of the cash dividend paid to its shareholders.

Subsequent events
Acquisition of HST Feeds Ltd.
ForFarmers has acquired 100% of the share capital of HST Feeds Ltd. per 3 February 2014. HST Feeds Ltd. is based
in Crewe (UK) and sells approximately 140,000 tonnes of ruminant and poultry compound feed to customers
throughout the North West of England. HST Feeds Ltd. will operate within BOCM PAULS, the UK Business Unit
of ForFarmers. The price paid is based on an enterprise value of € 15 million, including cash & cash equivalents.
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Independent auditor’s report
To: the shareholders of ForFarmers B.V.

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2013, as set out on page 73 to page 128 of ForFarmers
B.V., Lochem, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated and company profit and loss account for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary of the
accounting policies and other explanatory information..
Management's responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements and for the
preparation of the report from the Board of Directors, both in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. Furthermore management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion with respect to the financial statements
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of ForFarmers B.V. as
at 31 December 2013 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no
deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the report from the Board of Directors, to the
extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the
information as required under Section 2:392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed. Further we report that the report
from the Board of Directors, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial statements as required
by Section 2:391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Zwolle, 20 March 2014

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP
w.g. A.E. Wijnsma RA
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